PROPERTIES OF AN ORTHIC BLACK CHERNOZEM AFTER 5 YEARS OF LIQUID AND SOLID PIG MANURE APPLICATIONS TO ANNUAL AND PERENNIAL CROPS

by

Theresa Adesanya

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies of

The University of Manitoba

in partial fulfilment of the requirements of the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

Department of Soil Science

University of Manitoba

Winnipeg, Manitoba

Copyright © 2015 by Theresa Adesanya

ABSTRACT

Theresa Adesanya, M.Sc., The University of Manitoba, December 2015. <u>Properties of an Orthic Black Chernozem after 5 Years of Liquid and Solid Pig Manure Applications to annual and perennial Crops.</u> Advisor: Dr. Wole Akinremi

Soil physical and chemical properties determine a soil's crop production potential and the sustainability of a production system. The objective of this study was to determine the effect of solid and liquid pig manure application on the physical and chemical properties of soil after 5 years of manure application. Solid pig manure increased saturated hydraulic conductivity (Ksat) by 110%, aggregate stability by 30%, available and total phosphorus by 471% and 52% respectively, available nitrogen by 38%, organic carbon by 29% and exchangeable K by 308%, and reduced soil bulk density by 14%. Liquid pig manure (LPM) also increased aggregate stability by 21%, exchangeable K by 45%, available P and total P by 258% and 27%, respectively and, reduced bulk density by 6%. An important finding was the 33% decrease in the concentration of exchangeable Ca in LPM-amended soils. Significant manure by cropping system interaction was also obtained for water retention parameters and available water, total nitrogen and electrical conductivity. There was no effect of pig manure on pH and exchangeable Mg concentrations. Soils under perennial vegetation had 31% greater Ksat, 26% increase in available N, 31% greater available P, 15% greater total P and 12% lower bulk density compared with those under annual crops. Our results show that SPM has a potential as a better organic amendment in improving physical and chemical properties of surface soils.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My special thanks goes to my Advisor, Dr Wole Akinremi for his encouragement, guidance, funding and support. My gratitude also goes to all members of my committee, Dr. Francis Zvomuya, Dr Ying Chen and Dr. Wole Akinremi for their support and advice. I want to specially thank Dr. Zvomuya for his help with statistical analysis and encouragement.

I would also like to thank Rob Ellis, Mulikat Bammeke, and Bo-pan for their help with the laboratory work and collection of soil samples. My appreciation goes also to Ahmed, Ike, Rotimi and Mayowa for their support, help and encouragement all through my Master's program. Special thanks to all faculty, staff and students in the Department of Soil Science for making me have a wonderful 2 years stay.

To all my friends, Cherish, Tobi, Dupe and Toyin. I say a very big thank you.

I am grateful for the support of my loving parents and siblings for their patience, support and encouragement.

I am most grateful to God for the strength and grace given to me to complete this facet of my life.

ABSTRACTii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSiii
LIST OF TABLESix
LIST OF FIGURESx
1.1 Manure and manure benefits1
1.2 Pig Manure
1.2.1 Solid versus Liquid Pig Manure
1.2.2 Factors affecting the composition of pig manure
1.2.3 Pig manure as a plant nutrient source
1.3 Effect of Pig Manure on Soil Physical Properties5
1.4 Effect of pig manure on soil chemical properties7
1.5 Effect of cropping system on soil properties9
1.6 Research Objectives
1.7 References
2. PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF AN ORTHIC BLACK CHERNOZEM AFTER 5
YEARS OF LIQUID AND SOLID PIG MANURE APPLICATION 19
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Materials and Methods
2.3.1 Site information and experiment overview
2.3.2 Sample collection

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.3.3 Laboratory Analysis	27
2.3.4 Calculations	27
2.3.5 Statistical Analysis	
2.4. Results	29
2.4.1. Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity	
2.4.2 Bulk Density	31
2.4.3 Aggregate Stability	
2.4.4 Water retention at Field Capacity	
2.4.5 Water retention at Permanent Wilting Point	
2.4.6 Available Water	
2.5 Discussion	
2.5.1 Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity	
2.5.2 Bulk Density	
2.5.3 Aggregate Stability	
2.5.4 Water Retention	41
2.5.4.1 Water retention at Field Capacity	41
2.6 Conclusion	44
2.7 References	45
3. CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF AN ORTHIC BLACK CHERNOZEM	AFTER 5
YEARS OF LIQUID AND SOLID PIG MANURE APPLICATION	
3.1 Abstract	
3.2 Introduction	53

3.3 Materials and Methods
3.3.1 Site Information and Experiment Overview
3.3.2 Sample Collection
3.3.1. Laboratory Analysis
3.3.2. Statistical Analysis
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Soil Available Phosphorus
3.4.2 Soil Available Nitrogen
3.4.3 Total Nitrogen
3.4.4 Total Phosphorus
3.4.5 Organic Carbon70
3.4.6 Soil pH71
3.4.7 Electrical Conductivity71
3.4.8 Cation Exchange Capacity73
3.4.9 Exchangeable Cations74
3.6 Discussion
3.6.1 Soil Available Phosphorus76
3.6.2 Soil Available Nitrogen
3.6.3 Soil Total Phosphorus79
3.6.4 Soil Total Nitrogen
3.6.5 Soil pH
3.6.6 Soil Electrical Conductivity

	3.6.7 Soil Organic Carbon	. 83
	3.6.8 Cation Exchange Capacity	. 84
	3.6.9 Exchangeable Cations	. 85
	3.7 Conclusion	. 87
	3.8 References	. 88
4	. GENERAL SYNTHESIS	. 99
	4.1 Conclusions and recommendations	102
	4.2 References	103

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1 Manure characteristics in all five years of the study
Table 2.2 Effect of manure and cropping system on soil physical properties in the
0-10 cm and 10-20 cm depth intervals
Table 3.1 Total P, Total N, Available N and quantity of manure applied to annual
plots in all five years of the study61
Table 3.2 Total P, Total N, Available N and quantity of manure applied to perennial
plots in all five years of the study61
Table 3.3 Effect of manure and cropping system on soil chemical properties in the
0-15 cm depth interval
Table 3.4 Effect of manure and cropping system on soil chemical properties in the 15-30 cm
depth interval

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Plot layout at Carman
Figure 2.2 Effect of manure treatment on saturated hydraulic conductivity (a) in 0-10
cm depth (b) in 10-20 cm
Figure 2.3 Manure treatment effect on soil bulk density (a) in the 0-10 cm depth (b)
in the 10-20 cm depth
Figure 2.4 Effect of manure treatment on aggregate stability
Figure 2.5 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on soil water
retention in field capacity
Figure 2.6 Effect of manure treatment on soil water retention at field capacity in the
10-20 cm depth
Figure 2.7 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on soil water
retention at PWP
Figure 2.8 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on available
water in the 0-10 cm
Figure 2.9 Effect of manure treatment on available water in the 10-20 cm depth
Figure 3.1 Plot layout at Carman60
Figure 3.2 Manure treatment effect on soil available P in the 0-15 cm depth64
Figure 3.3 Manure treatmen effect on soil available N in the 0-15 cm depth and 15-30 cm
depth67
Eisen 2.4 Comming and the second descent interaction offers and a silt of the
Figure 3.4 Cropping system by manure treatment interaction effect on soil total N in the
0-15 cm depth
Figure 3.5 Cropping system by manure treatment effect on soil total N in the 15-30 cm
depth

Figure 3.6 Manure treatment effect on soil total P in the 0-15 cm depth7	0'
Figure 3.7 Manure treatment effect on soil organic carbon in the 0-15 cm depth	71
Figure 3.8 Cropping system by manure treatment effect on soil EC in 0-15 cm depth	72
Figure 3.9 Manure treatment effect on soil EC in 15-30 cm depth	73
Figure 3.10 Manure treatment effect on cation exchange capacity in 0-15 cm depth	74
Figure 3.11 Manure treatment effect on exchangeable calcium at 0-15 cm depth	75
Figure 3.12 Manure treatment effect on exchangeable potassium	76

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Manure and manure benefits

Animal manure is a valuable organic fertilizer that can be added to the soil to improve the physical and chemical properties of soils. Although manure is added to the soil primarily as a source of plant nutrients, it is rich in organic carbon. The soil organic carbon strongly influences the physical, biological and chemical properties of soils and soil quality (Liang et al., 2012). Manure addition to soil can affect soil physical, chemical and biological properties, either directly or indirectly (Wienhold, 2005). Manure promotes soil aggregation, increases nutrient availability and retention, determines cation exchange capacity and influences the development of a good soil structure (McSheehy and Rawlings, 1973). It also improves soil water retention (Miller et al., 2002b), aggregate stability (Dunjana et al., 2012) and lowers bulk density (Fares et al., 2008, Miller et al., 2002b). Seguel et al. (2013) reported a decrease in bulk density with the application of manure to fine textured haplocambid soil. Sommerfeldt and Chang (1985) reported a decrease in soil bulk density at the rate of 0.0002 Mg/m³ per megagram of manure applied annually. They also reported an effect of solid beef cattle manure on soil aggregate size distribution in irrigated soil. Although the effect of beef cattle manure on soil structure was not as large as they expected, they attributed this to the fact that the soil originally had a good structure with good aggregate size distribution and stability (Sommerfeldt and Chang, 1985). Whalen and Chang (2002) reported an increase in wet aggregate stability in a dark brown Chernozem after 25 annual manure applications, with greater increase in an irrigated soil compared to a dryland which was related to the higher moisture content in irrigated plots than in dryland plots during the growing season.

Animal manure is also a source of plant nutrients (Schoenau and Davis, 2006). Manure application increases pH, mineral N (ammonium-N and nitrate-N), available phosphorus and potassium (Limon-Ortega et al., 2009), extractable potassium (Olson and Papworth, 2006), calcium and magnesium (Whalen et al., 2000).

The inappropriate use of manure can lead to eutrophication of freshwater, surface water or lakes (Correll, 1998). Land application is the most environmentally friendly and accepted means of using manures. However, excess application of manures to land can result in leaching of nitrogen and phosphorus into groundwater and runoff into surface waters (Bailey and Buckley, 1998). As such, effective management of manure becomes necessary for the protection of adjacent environments. The optimal amount of manure to be applied to an agricultural field depends on the manure composition, soil nutrient availability, the type of crop grown and environmental conditions (Eghball et al., 2002).

1.2 Pig Manure

Pig production has grown at a rapid rate in western Canada (Novek, 2003). Manitoba is the third largest pig producing province in Canada, after Ontario and Quebec. From July 1,2012 to January, 2013, Manitoba pig industry contributed 23% of total Canada pig production of 12.9 million pigs and 22.8% of the total Canada pig production of 13.1 million pigs in the first 6 months of 2014 (Statistics Canada, 2014). On a global scale, pigs excrete up to 1.7 billion tonnes of liquid manure annually (Choudhary et al., 1996). A pig, on the average excretes 2 tonnes of manure per year (Larson, 1991). As a result of the high pig production rate in Manitoba, large quantities of manure are generated yearly in Manitoba (Sri Ranjan et al., 2005). Pig manure can be an asset to a

pig producer when it is properly managed (Choudhary et al., 1996). Spreading the manure as solid or liquid has been the most common form of manure application (Khakbazan et al., 2004).

1.2.1 Solid versus Liquid Pig Manure

Pig manure is generally handled as liquid, solid or semi-solid (slurry). The solid and semi-solid manure have higher organic carbon content than the liquid because of the beddings that forms a part of the solid manure. The solid manure has more residual straw/fibre content and hence more organic carbon than the liquid manure (Magdoff, 1993; Fares et al., 2008). The liquid, semi-solid and solid manure can be differentiated using their respective moisture content. The solid manure has less than 80 percent moisture content, the liquid has more than 90 percent moisture content and the semi-solid has between 80-90 percent moisture content (Manure Application and Uses Guidelines, 2004). Most pig farms in Manitoba adopt the liquid manure storage system (Clean Environment Commission, 2007). However, in recent years, a few producers in Manitoba have experimented with the solid manure handling system.

The manure handling system influences the nutrient content of pig manure (Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee, 2007). For example, fresh solid pig manure from finishing operation contains an average of 6.3 kg tonne⁻¹ total N, 1.4 kg tonne⁻¹ ammonium-N, 2.14 kg tonne⁻¹ available N and 2.83 kg tonne⁻¹ total P. The liquid manure from pig fed with phytase supplemented diet contains an average of 3.2 kg tonne⁻¹ total N, 2.4 kg tonne⁻¹ ammonium-N, 1.8 kg tonne⁻¹ available N and 0.7 kg tonne⁻¹ of total P (Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee, 2007).

1.2.2 Factors affecting the composition of pig manure

The chemical composition of pig manure depends on a number of factors among which is the feed composition, the age of the animal, manure storage system, and the type of bedding used (Bernal et al., 1993, MAFRI, 2009). Sutton et al. (1984a) reported an increase in the sodium content of manure from pigs fed 0.5% salt when compared to that of a pig fed 0.2% salt. Also Kornegay et al. (1976) reported an increase in the Cu concentration of manure from pigs fed 250-300 ppm Cu diets compared to pigs fed with diets that contained no Cu. In a study by Racz and Fitzgerald (2001), a wide number of pig manure samples were collected and analysed for nutrient content. The authors reported that the total N content of manure samples varied with the barns and concluded that this could be due to differences in the protein content of the feed. The manure from the sow barn had the smallest mean total N and the feed of sows had low total protein content (Racz and Fitzgerald 2001).

Manure composition also depends on the pig growth stage. On average, total N content of liquid pig manure from farrow, nursery, finisher, farrow-finish is 1.7, 2.7, 3.4, 2.8 kg m⁻³ (without phytase supplemented diet), respectively (Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee, 2007). This shows that the age or stage of development can affect pig manure composition.

1.2.3 Pig manure as a plant nutrient source

Plant nutrients can be grouped into macro- and micro-nutrients based on the quantity needed for plant growth. Nitrogen and phosphorus are among the major nutrients needed for crop growth. There are potential problems associated with the use of N and P either from inorganic fertilizers or from manures as N can be lost from the soil through leaching, volatilization, denitrification, run off and surface erosion. Phosphorus, on the other hand, can also be transported by surface runoff and erosion. The use of manure for fertilization of farmlands can reduce associated costs of inorganic fertilizers (Van Wieringen et al., 2005). Pig manure can be an effective source of plant nutrients (Allen and Mallarino, 2008; Wienhold, 2005) as it is rich in P (Von Wandruszka, 2006) and contains all essential plant nutrients. Racz and Fitzgerald (2001) reported that potassium (K), calcium (Ca) and chloride (Cl) were, on average, the most abundant elements in pig manure while magnesium (Mg), sodium (Na) and sulphur (S) were present in moderate concentrations in 145 pig manure samples collected from 38 pig operations. Pig manure is rich in ammonium-N and total N (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989). The total amount of N and P in pig manure produced in Manitoba is approximately 22,500 to 24,000 tonnes of N and 5,000 to 7,000 tonnes of P (Clean Environment Commission, 2007). As a result of the nutrient elements in pig manure, studies have shown that pig manure can be a source of plant nutrients as its addition to soil increased total phosphorus (Royer et al. 2003), available phosphorus and total nitrogen (Bernal et al., 1993), and available nitrogen (Bork et al. 2013; Mooleki et al. 2002; Olson and Papworth 2006; Woli et al. 2013).

1.3 Effect of Pig Manure on Soil Physical Properties

In addition to providing essential nutrients to plants, pig manure also affects soil physical properties. Some important soil physical properties which have great influence on soil and crop productivity include bulk density, aggregate stability, water retention and saturated hydraulic conductivity.

Bulk density is the ratio of the mass of soil to its total volume. Fares et al. (2008) reported a decrease in bulk density of a highly weathered tropical soil amended with pig manure and concluded that the decrease could be as a result of adding a less dense

material (organic matter) to the soil or as a result of organic matter improving aggregate stability. Asefa et al. (2004) reported a decrease of 8-9% in the bulk density of a black chernozemic soil that received four annual applications of liquid pig manure. Sommerfeldt and Chang (1985) observed a decrease in bulk density in the 0-15 cm depth of an Orthic Black Chernozem after 5 years of annual cattle manure application.

The aggregate stability of soils is also an important physical property as stable soil aggregates reduce the susceptibility of soil to erosion and provide good soil tilth. An improvement in the quality and quantity of soil organic matter is expected to increase soil aggregation and stability (Whalen and Chang, 2002) as such; aggregate stability can be improved by the addition of organic amendment to the soil (Sun et al., 1995, Wortmann and Shapiro, 2007). Asada et al. (2012) reported an increase in the soil porosity, soil water retention at 0-1000 kPa and enhanced aggregation in soils amended with high rates of pig manure. Comin et al. (2013) also studied the effect of pig slurry and pig litter on the physical properties of a typic hapludult. The authors reported that pig litter increased macroporosity, aggregation, aggregate stability, decreased bulk density and penetration resistance. The addition of pig manure and litter also decreased the proportion of aggregates with diameters >4 mm. In a study by Miller et al. (2002b), bulk density was significantly reduced after 24 years of solid beef manure application. A significant increase in the saturated hydraulic conductivity with increasing rate of cattle manure application was reported by Fares et al. (2008). Limited research exists on the effect of pig manure on soil physical properties. Some studies have been carried out on the effect of liquid pig manure (Fares et al. 2008; Asada et al. 2012; Comin et al. 2013) and pig manure compost (Seguel et al., 2013) on soil properties, however, limited information exists on the effect of solid pig manure

on the selected properties. As well, studies of the comparative effect of solid and liquid pig manure on the physical properties of the soil are few. This study attempts to fill this gap.

1.4 Effect of pig manure on soil chemical properties

Both physical and chemical properties of the soil are important for soil productivity. Some chemical properties that can affect the growth of crops as well as the productivity of the soil include available nitrogen, available phosphorus, total nitrogen and phosphorus, organic carbon, pH, electrical conductivity and cation exchange capacity of the soil.

Studies have been carried out on the effect of liquid pig manure on soil chemical properties. For example, Mooleki et al. (2002), Nikiema et al. (2013), Woli et al. (2013) studied the effect of liquid pig manure (LPM) on available nitrogen and found that manure increased soil available N and yield. Qian et al. (2005) reported that after 7 annual applications of liquid pig manure, extractable K was significantly increased in the soils with high manure application rate compared to the control. McAndrews et al. (2006), used solid pig manure and concluded that it resulted in an increase in Bray P and exchangeable K. High rates of pig slurry (120 m³ ha⁻¹) increased soil organic carbon and potentially mineralizable nitrogen (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989).

Phosphorus is another major plant nutrient whose concentration in soils can be influenced by pig manure additions. A study by Royer et al. (2003) showed that 8 annual applications of liquid pig manure at high rates increased soil total phosphorus and other labile P forms. In another detailed study of the effect of pig manure on soil chemical properties of forage land by Olson and Papworth, (2006) an increase in nitrate-N with manure rate, electrical conductivity (EC), orthophosphate phosphorus and extractable potassium was reported. Turner et al. (2010), in a study on effect of annual applications of animal manure on semi-arid soils, reported that pig effluent contributed greater quantities of potassium and total dissolved salts than beef manure. An increase in soil total N and exchangeable K was observed following the application of 300-400 m³ ha⁻¹ of pig slurry in a study by Bernal et al. (1993). An increase in available P was also reported at the smallest rate (100 m³ ha⁻¹) of pig slurry addition (Benal et al. 1993). Liquid pig manure reduced soil pH by 5% on a sandy loam soil after four annual applications (Assefa et al., 2004).

Miller et al., (2002b) reported a significant increase in the organic carbon content of a Dark Brown Orthic Chernozem after 24 years of solid beef manure application. Also, in a study by Qian et al., (2004), total P increased following 5 annual applications of solid cattle manure to a loam Black Chernozem while no significant effect on total P was detected in soils to which liquid pig manure was added. This was attributed to the fact that a smaller quantity of P was added by the liquid pig manure than the cattle manure.

Soil cation exchange capacity influences plant nutrient uptake and ion movement in soil (Gao and Chang,1996). Ndayegamiye and Cote (1989) observed that pig slurry and solid cattle manure increased cation exchange capacity in soils to which these manures were added, however, the increase was significantly higher in soils amended with cattle manure. This was attributed to the higher organic carbon content in solid cattle manure. Gao and Chang, (1996) reported an increase in the soil cation exchange capacity, total nitrogen and soil organic carbon content with the addition of increasing rates of cattle manure to a dark brown chernozemic clay loam after 18 annual applications.

Limited information exist on the effect of solid pig manure on soil chemical properties, also no direct comparison has been made between the solid and liquid manure and their effect on soil physical and chemical properties. This study will attempt to fill such gap.

1.5 Effect of cropping system on soil properties

Perennial crops persist for multiple growing seasons while annual crops complete their lifecycle in one growing season as all the parts of the annual crop (the root, stem and leaves) die annually. Perennial crops can be harvested multiple times during their life time. Annual crops usually have a shallow root while the perennial crops have deeper roots and as a result can extract water from deeper layers of soil (Wallace, 2000). Perennial crops, due to their deep root can create biopores, improve soil structure and drainage and reduce soil acidity (Cransberg and McFarlane, 1994).

Franzluebbers et al. (2014) concluded that soil under perennial forages have high organic matter content which can lead to improved soil quality in later years. Subsurface nutrient losses (nitrate) from soils cropped to annual vegetation is higher than losses in soils cultivated to perennial crops (Randall and Mulla, 2001; Tomer and Liebman, 2014). Pugesgaard et al. (2014) reported that the nitrate losses in perennial grass clover were smaller than nitrate leached in winter wheat (annual crop). His study recommended that the use of willow or grasses as a replacement for annual crops in nitrate leaching sensitive areas will lead to a significant reduction in nitrate leaching. Also, the establishment of perennial vegetation is known to sequester C from soil organic matter and vegetation (Wienhold and Tanaka, 2001). The sequestered C is important in building soil fertility, protect soil from compaction, and nurture soil biodiversity (Franzluebbers et al., 2014). As such, soil cultivated to perennial

vegetation will have less compaction. Also since soil organic C can improve soil physical and chemical properties, soils cultivated under perennial grasses can have improved soil physical and chemical properties (such as greater plant nutrients) when compared to soils under annual crops. Culman et al. (2010) reported a significant increase in total nitrogen, water stable aggregate and soil organic carbon in perennial grasslands than in soils cropped to annual crops in a study to compare the impacts of high-input annual cropping and unfertilized perennial grass production on soil properties. Soils within a perennial grass hedge system produced significantly lower bulk density and higher saturated hydraulic conductivity compared to soils within row crops area (Rachman et al., 2004a; Rachman et al., 2004b; Seobi et al., 2005). Studies on the effect of perennial and annual cropping system on the selected physical and chemical properties are limited.

1.6 Research Objectives

A review of literature showed that several studies have been carried out on the effect of liquid pig manure on soil physical and chemical properties, crop growth and yield. However, the corresponding information on the effect of solid pig manure on the physical and chemical properties of the soil is limited. To our knowledge, there is no study that directly compared the effect of solid pig and liquid pig manure on the physical and chemical properties of soil. Such studies are needed to provide us with information on the impact that a shift from liquid to solid manure management system can have on the soil that receives these manures. Therefore, the objectives of this study are to determine the effect of five years application of N based liquid pig manure and N based solid pig manure on selected soil physical and chemical properties and to determine the effect of cropping system on changes in soil physical and chemical properties following 5 years of manure application.

Chapter 2 of this thesis will focus on the effect of 5 years of repeated pig manure application on the soil physical properties such as bulk density, saturated hydraulic conductivity, water retention at field capacity (0.2 bar) and at permanent wilting point (15 bar), available water capacity and aggregate stability. Chapter 3 will examine the effect of both liquid and solid pig manure on soil chemical properties such as nitrate-N and ammonium-N, available phosphorus, total nitrogen and phosphorus, organic carbon, total carbon, pH, electrical conductivity, exchangeable cations and the cation exchange capacity of the soil. Chapter 4 gives the overall synthesis of the research project.

1.7 References

- Akinremi, O.O., Ige, D.V., and Bammeke, M. 2014. Downward movement of nitrate and phosphorus from liquid and solid hog manure under annual and perennial cropping systems. Manitoba Rural Adaptation Council, Manitoba.
- Allen, B.L., and Mallarino, A.P. 2008. Effect of liquid swine manure rate, incorporation, and timing of rainfall on phosphorus loss with surface runoff. J. Environ. Qual. 37: 125.
- Assefa, B.A., Schoenau, J.J., and Grevers, M.C.J. 2004. Effects of four annual applications of manure on Black Chernozemic soils. Can. Biosyst. Eng. 46: 6–39.
- Asada, K., Yabushita, Y., Saito, H., and Nishimura, T. 2012. Effect of long-term swinemanure application on soil hydraulic properties and heavy metal behaviour. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 63: 368–376.

- **Bailey, L., and Buckley, K. 1998**. Land application of hog manure: Agronomic and environmental considerations, the Canadian perspective.
- Bernal, M.P., Roig, A., and Garcia, D. 1993. Nutrient balances in calcareous soils after application of different rates of pig slurry. Soil Use Manage. 9: 9–14.
- Bork, E.W., Lambert, B.D., Banerjee, S. and Blonski, L.J. 2013. Soil mineral nitrogen responses following liquid hog manure application to semiarid forage lands. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 93: 369–378.
- Choudhary, M., Bailey, L.D., and Grant, C.A. 1996. Review of the use of swine manure in crop production: effects on yield and composition and on soil and water quality. Waste Manage. Res. 14: 581–595.
- **Clean Environment Commission (CEC). 2007.** A report on current knowledge of key environmental issues related to hog production in Manitoba. Manitoba. p. iii
- Comin, J.J., Loss, A., da Veiga, M., Guardini, R., Schmitt, D.E., Victoria de Oliveira,
 P.A., Filho, P.B., Couto, R. da R., Benedet, L., Júnior, V.M., and Brunetto, G.
 2013. Physical properties and organic carbon content of a Typic Hapludult soil fertilised with pig slurry and pig litter in a no-tillage system. Soil Res. 51: 459.
- **Correll, D.L. 1998**. The role of phosphorus in the eutrophication of receiving waters: A review. J. Environ. Qual. **27**:261-266
- Cransberg, L., and McFarlane, D.J. 1994. Can perennial pastures provide the basis for a sustainable farming system in southern Australia? New Zeal. J. Agric. Res. 37: 287–294Available at http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00288233.1994.9513067 (verified 13 January 2015).
- Culman, S.W., DuPont, S.T. Glover, J.D. Buckley, D.H. Fick, G.W. Ferris, H. and Crews T.E.. 2010. Long-term impacts of high-input annual cropping and unfertilized perennial grass production on soil properties and belowground food webs in Kansas, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137: 13–24

- Dunjana, N., Nyamugafata, P., Shumba, A., Nyamangara, J. and Zingore, S.2012. Effects of cattle manure on selected soil physical properties of smallholder farms on two soils of Murewa, Zimbabwe. Soil Use Manage. 28: 221–228.
- Eghball, B. Wienhold, B.J Gilley, J.E. and Eigenberg, R.A. 2002. Mineralization of manure nutrients. J. Soil Water Conserv. 57: 470-473
- Fares, A., Abbas, F. Ahmad, A. Deenik, J.L. and Safeeq, M. 2008. Response of selected soil physical and hydrologic properties to manure amendment rates, levels and types. Soil Sci. 173: 522–533.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Sawchik, J. and Taboada, M.A. 2014. Agronomic and environmental impacts of pasture–crop rotations in temperate North and South America. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 190: 18–26.
- Gao, G., and Chang, C. 1996. Changes in CEC and particle size distribution of soils associated with long-term annual applications of cattle feedlot manure. Soil Sci. 161: 115–120Available at http://cat.inist.fr/?aModele=afficheN&cpsidt=3007239 (verified 26 January 2015).
- **Honey, J. 2014.** Manitoba pig and pork industry 2013. Available at http://manitobapork.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/05/Manitoba-pig-and-pork-profile-2013.pdf (verified 9 September 2014).
- Khakbazan, M., Hamilton, C. Buckley, K. and Chorney, H. 2004. Economics of hog manure application technologies and runoff/leaching management. p. 159–164. *In* MAC_proceedings. Hearings on the hog production industry review. April, Winnipeg, MB.
- Kornegay, E.T., Hedges, J. D., Martens, D. C. and Kramer, C. Y. 1976. Effect on soil and plant mineral levels following applications of manure of different copper contents. Plant and soil 45: 151-162
- Larson, B. G. 1991. Saskatchewan Pork Industry Manure Management Recommendations Saskatoon, SK, Canada. Saskatchewan Pork Producers' Marketing Board

- Liang, Q., Chen, H. Gong, Y., Fan, Y., Yang, H., Lal, R. and Kuzyakov, Y. 2012. Effects of 15 years of manure and inorganic fertilizers on soil organic carbon fractions in a wheat-maize system in the North China Plain. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 92: 21– 33.
- Limon-Ortega, A., Govaerts, B. and Sayre, K.D. 2009. Crop rotation, wheat straw management, and chicken manure effects on soil quality. Agronomy Journal 101: 600.
- Manitoba Agriculture, Food and Rural Intiatives Growing Opportunities. 2009. Manure nutrients and their behaviour in soil.
- Availableat http://www.gov.mb.ca/agriculture/environment/nutrientmanagement/pubs/mmf_manurenutribehaviour_factsheet. (Verified 15 July 2015)
- Magdoff, F. 1993. Building soils for better crops: Organic matter management. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Novek, J. 2003. Intensive Hog Farming in Manitoba: Transnational Treadmills and Local Conflicts. Can. Rev. Sociol. Anthr. 40. 3–26.
- McAndrews, G.M., Liebman, M., Cambardella, C.A. and Richard, T.L. 2006. Residual effects of composted and fresh solid swine (1.) manure on soybean [(1.) merr.] growth and yield. Agron. J. 98: 873.
- McSheehy, T.W., and Rawlings, J.A. 1973. The influence of three different farming systems on organic matter in the soils. Qualitas plantarum et materiae vegetabiles 22: 321–333.
- Miller J.J, Sweetland, N.J. and Chang, C. 2002a. Hydrological properties of a clay loam soil after long-term cattle manure application. J. Environ. Qual. 31: 989-996
- Miller J.J, Sweetland, N.J. and Chang, C. 2002b. Soil physical properties of a chernozemic clay loam after 24 years of beef cattle manure application. Can. J. Soil Sci. 82:287-296
- Mooleki, S.P., Schoenau, J.J., Hultgreen, G., Wen, G., and Charles, J.L. 2002. Effect of rate, frequency and method of liquid swine manure application on soil nitrogen availability, crop performance and N use efficiency in east-central Saskatchewan. Can. J. Soil Sci. 82: 457–467.

- Nikiema, P., Buckley, K.E., Enns, J.M., Qiang, H. and Akinremi, O.O. 2013. Effects of liquid hog manure on soil available nitrogen status, nitrogen leaching losses and wheat yield on a sandy loam soil of western Canada. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 93: 573 – 584.
- Ndayegamiye, A., and Cote, D. 1989. Effect of long-term pig slurry and solid cattle manure application on soil chemical and biological properties. Can. J. Soil Sci. 69: 39–47.
- Novek, J. 2003. Intensive Hog Farming in Manitoba: Transnational Treadmills and Local Conflicts*.EBSCO publishing, CSRA/RCSA 40.1 pp 4-26
- Olson, B.M., and Papworth, L.W. 2006. Soil chemical changes following manure application on irrigated alfalfa and rainfed timothy in southern Alberta. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86: 119–132.
- Pugesgaard, S., Schelde, K., Larsen, S.U., Laerke, P.E. and Jørgensen, U. 2014. Comparing annual and perennial crops for bioenergy production - influence on nitrate leaching and energy balance. GCB Bioenergy: 1–14.
- Qian, P., and Schoenau, J.J. 2002. Availability of nitrogen in solid manure amendments with different C:N ratios. Can. J. Soil Sci. 82: 219–225.
- Qian, P., J.J. Schoenau, T. Wu, and P. Mooleki. 2004. Phosphorus amounts and distribution in a Saskatchewan soil after five years of swine and cattle manure application. Can. J. Soil Sci. 84: 275–281.
- Qian, P., Schoenau, J.J., King, T. and Japp, M. 2005. Effect of repeated manure application on potassium, calcium and magnesium in soil and cereal crops in Saskatchewan. Can. J. Soil Sci. 85: 397–403.
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J. and Alberts, E.E. 2004a. Soil hydraulic properties influenced by stiff-stemmed grass hedge systems. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68: 1386.
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J., and Thompson, A. L. 2004b. Influence of stiff-stemmed grass hedge systems on infiltration. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68: 2000.

- Racz, G.J., and Fitzgerald, M.M. 2001. Nutrient and heavy metal contents of hog manure: Effect on soil quality and productivity. Livestock Options for the Future. Available at http://www.cecmanitoba.ca/resource/hearings/22/56.pdf (verified 7 November 2014).
- Randall, G.W. and Mulla, D.J. 2001. Nitrate nitrogen in surface waters as influenced by climatic conditions and agricultural practices. J. Environ. Qual. 30: 337–344.
- Royer, I., Simard, R.R., Barnett, G.M., Cluis, D. and Angers, D.A. 2003. Long-term effects of liquid hog manure on the phosphorus status of a silt loam cropped to corn. Can. J. Soil Sci. 83: 589–600.
- Schmitt, M., and Rehm, G. 1992. Fertilizing cropland with swine manure. Available at http://www.extension.umn.edu/agriculture/manure-management-and-air-quality/manure-application/docs/AG-FO-5879-C-1.pdf (verified 27 October 2014).
- Schoenau, J.J., and Davis, J.G. 2006. Optimizing soil and plant responses to land-applied manure nutrients in the Great Plains of North America. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86: 587–595.
- Seguel, O., Baginsky, C., Contreras, A., Covarrubias, J.I., González, C. and Poblete,
 L. 2013. Physical properties of a fine textured haplocambid after three years of organic matter amendments management. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 13:690-705
- Seobi, T., Anderson, S.H., Udawatta, R.P. and Gantzer, C.J. 2005. Influence of grass and agroforestry buffer strips on soil hydraulic properties for an albaqualf. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69: 893.
- Sommerfeldt T. G and Chang, C. 1985. Changes in soil properties under annual applications of feedlot manure and different tillage practices. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 49:983-987.
- Sri Ranjan, R., Manokararajah, K. and Wiebe, C. 2005. Assessing the hydraulic conductivity beneath clay-lined earthen manure storages. Can. Biosyst. Eng. / Le Genie des Biosyst. au Canada 47: 1–7.
- Statistics Canada, 2014. Hog Inventories by Province (Quarterly). http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/prim51h-eng.htm (Accessed 14.11.14).

- Sun, H., Larney, F.J. and Bullock, M.S. 1995. Soil amendments and water-stable aggregation of a desurfaced Dark Brown Chernozem. Can. J. Soil Sci. 75: 319–325.
- Sutton, A.L., Melvin, S. W. And Vanderholm, D.H. 1984. Fertilizer value of swine manure.AS-453. Ames, Iowa, USA.:Iowa State Cooperative Extension Service
- **The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee. 2007.** Farm Practices Guidelines for Pig Producers in Manitoba..
- Available at http://www.gov.mb.ca/agriculture/livestock/production/pork/pubs/farmpractices-guidelines_complete.pdf (verified 15 July 2015).
- The Prairie Province's Committee on Livestock Development and Manure Management 2004. Manure Application and Uses Guidelines.
- Tomer, M.D., and Liebman, M. 2014. Nutrients in soil water under three rotational cropping systems, Iowa, USA. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 186: 105–114.
- Turner, J.C., Hattey, J.A., Warren, J.G. and Penn, C.J. 2010. Electrical conductivity and sodium adsorption ratio changes following annual applications of animal manure amendments. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41: 1043–1060.
- Van Wieringen, L. M., Harrison, J. H., Nennich, T., Davidson, D. L., Morgan, L., Chen, S., Bueler, M. and Hoisington, F. 2005. Manure management effects on grass production, nutrivive content, and soil nitrogen from grass silage-based dairy farm. J. Environ. Qual. 34: 164-173.
- Vanderholm, D.H. 1975. Nutrient losses from livestock waste during storage, treatment and handling. In Managing Livestock Wastes. Proceedings from 3rd International Symposium on Livestock wastes, Urbana-Campaign, Illinois, U.S.A., 21-24 April 1975, St. Joseph, Michigan, U.S.A.: America Society of Agricultural Engineering, pp 282-285
- Von Wandruszka, R. 2006. Phosphorus retention in calcareous soils and the effect of organic matter on its mobility. Geochemical transactions 7 Available at http://www.biomedcentral.com/content/pdf/1467-4866-7-6.pdf (verified 17 November 2014).

- Wallace, J.. 2000. Increasing agricultural water use efficiency to meet future food production. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 82: 105–119
- Whalen, J.K., and Chang, C. 2002. Macroaggregate characteristics in cultivated soils after 25 annual manure applications. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 66: 1637–1647.
- Whalen, J.K., Chang, C., Clayton, G.W. and Carefoot, J.P. 2000. Cattle manure amendments can increase the pH of acid soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 64: 962–966.
- Wienhold, B.J. 2005. Changes in soil attributes following low phosphorus swine slurry application to no-tillage sorghum. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69: 206–214.
- Wienhold, B.J., and Tanaka, D.L. 2001. Soil property changes during conversion from perennial vegetation to annual cropping. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65: 1795–1803.
- Woli, K.P., Rakshit, S., Lundvall, J.P., Sawyer, J.E. and Barker, D.W. 2013. Liquid swine manure application to soybean and residual-year nitrogen supply to corn. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 77: 1684.
- Wortmann, C.S., and Shapiro, C.A. 2008. The effects of manure application on soil aggregation. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 80: 173–180.

2. PHYSICAL PROPERTIES OF AN ORTHIC BLACK CHERNOZEM AFTER 5 YEARS OF LIQUID AND SOLID PIG MANURE APPLICATION

2.1 Abstract

Pig (*Sus scrofa*) manure is added to the soil to supply nutrients and improve soil properties. The choice of a cropping system also has an effect on soil properties. To our knowledge, no direct comparison has been made on the effect of liquid pig manure (LPM) and solid pig manure (SPM) on physical properties of a prairie soil.

The study was established in 2009 at the Ian Morrison Research Station of the University of Manitoba at Carman, Manitoba, on an Orthic Black Chernozem. The experimental design was a split plot with cropping system (annual and perennial) as the main plot and manure treatment (N-based LPM, N-based SPM, and a control) as the subplot. Soil samples were collected at two depth intervals (0-10 cm and 10-20 cm) in the spring of 2014 for bulk density, saturated hydraulic conductivity (Ksat) and soil water retention at field capacity (20 kPa) and at permanent wilting point (PWP) (1500 kPa). For aggregate stability, samples were collected from the 0-5 cm depth. Land application of SPM produced a soil with a significantly smaller bulk density (14% decrease), a significantly greater Ksat in the 0-10 cm depth interval and a significantly greater aggregate stability. The LPM also produced soils with a significantly smaller bulk density (6% decrease) compared with the control. No significant difference in Ksat between soils amended with LPM and the control. Soils that were under perennial grasses had significantly smaller bulk density and greater Ksat than soil under annual cropping. We conclude that SPM has the potential as an organic amendment to improve the physical properties of the topsoil.

2.2 Introduction

Animal manure can improve soil physical properties by improving soil structure (Barbosa et al., 2015), reducing soil bulk density and compaction and by improving soil aeration and water retention (especially in sandy soils) (Schoenau and Davis, 2006). Pig manure is commonly applied to soil and it is a valuable organic fertilizer and soil amendment (Ahmed et al., 2013). Manitoba is the third largest pig producing province in Canada, after Ontario and Quebec, contributing 22.5% to the total Canadian pig production (13.0 million pigs) in the first six months of 2014 (Statistics Canada, 2014). The large scale pig production in Manitoba leads to high production of pig manure in the province (Sri Ranjan et al., 2005). Pig manure can be handled as liquid, solid or semi-solid. The liquid manure handling system is the most common among livestock farmers (Beaulieu, 2004). A number of research studies have been carried out on the effect of liquid pig manure on soil properties while a few studies exist on solid pig manure. Due to the dearth of information on the effect of solid pig manure on soil physical properties, this review will contain literature on the effect of solid beef cattle manure on soil physical properties. The assumption is that solid pig manure and solid beef cattle manure will have similar effects on the soil physical properties as they both contain bedding materials such as straw.

Soil physical properties are important for maintaining soil quality (Rachman et al., 2003). Soil physical properties that influence crop growth include bulk density, saturated hydraulic conductivity, aggregate stability and water retention. Bulk density is the ratio of the mass of soil solid to the total volume of soil. It is a measure of the state of soil compaction (Blanco-Canqui et al., 2015). Soil bulk density can be used to estimate some soil physical properties including water retention, porosity and compressibility (Ruehlmann and Körschens, 2009). It also affects the relationship

between water content, air-filled porosity and penetration resistance (Quiroga et al., 1999). Manure is rich in organic matter: as such, its addition to soil can alter soil bulk density and compressibility (Prévost, 2004; Ruehlmann and Körschens, 2009). Fares et al. (2008) reported a decrease in bulk density of a highly weathered tropical soil and concluded that the decrease could be due to adding less dense organic matter to the soil or due to the added organic matter improving aggregate stability. Assefa et al. (2004) also reported a decrease of 8-9% in the bulk density of a Black Chernozemic soil that received four annual applications of liquid pig manure. A study by Miller et al. (2002b) showed that bulk density was significantly reduced after 24 years of solid beef cattle manure application. The bulk density of a fine sandy loam soil was also reduced after 71 years of beef cattle manure application in a study by Blanco-Canqui et al. (2015).

Soil water retention is another important physical property. The plant available water capacity of a soil can be estimated from soil water retention at field capacity and at permanent wilting point. Field capacity is defined as the water remaining in the soil after internal drainage has ceased (Hillel 1980). Manure has been known to improve soil water retention at field capacity and permanent wilting point. Miller et al. (2002a), in his study on the effect of cattle manure on hydrological properties of a clay loam, reported increased soil water retention between 0 and 1500 kPa by 5-48% in soils amended with cattle manure. Asada et al. (2012) also reported that soil water retention at 1000 kPa increased with the application of high rates of liquid pig manure but no increase in water retention of soils amended with standard rates of liquid pig manure was observed. Blanco-Canqui et al.(2015) observed an increase of up to 18% in water retention at field capacity and 21% in water retention at permanent wilting point in soils that received beef cattle manure for 71 years.

Soil aggregate stability is an indicator of soil quality (Nakajima et. al, 2015). Aggregate stability measures the stability of the soil structure and a reduction in aggregate stability implies an increase in soil degradation (Mbagwu, 2003). This property can be improved by the addition of organic amendment such as manure to the soil (Sun et al., 1995; Wortmann and Shapiro, 2007). Barbosa et al. (2015) reported that the application of liquid pig manure improved aggregation in an oxisol. A study by Dunjana et al. (2012) on the effect of solid cattle manure on soil properties, showed an increase in macro-aggregate stability of clay soils following 7 years of cattle manure application. This improvement was associated with an increase in soil organic carbon content of the soil resulting from the addition of cattle manure.

Soil saturated hydraulic conductivity is an important property which affects water flow, infiltration and transport of dissolved substances in soil (Jiang and Shao, 2014). Saturated hydraulic conductivity can be used as a key indicator of soil quality (Nakajima et. al, 2015). Miller et al. (2002a) investigated the effect of cattle manure on the saturated hydraulic conductivity of a clay loam and reported an increase of 76-128% after 24 years of manure application.

Crop rotations or the type of cropping system adopted on a farm can affect soil quality (Limon-Ortega et al., 2009; Rachman et al., 2003). Perennial crops have deeper roots than annual crops. As a result, they can extract water from greater depths in the soil profile (Wallace, 2000) and improve soil structure and drainage (Cransberg and McFarlane, 1994). A study by Rachman et al. (2003) showed that soil cropped to perennial grass (Timothy) produced soil aggregates that were three times more stable than soil under annual crops after over 100 years of cropping. Culman et al. (2010) reported a significant increase in water stable aggregates and soil organic carbon concentrations in perennial grasslands than in soils cropped to annual crops. Soils

22

within a perennial grass hedge system produced significantly lower bulk density and higher saturated hydraulic conductivity than soils under row crops (Rachman et al., 2004a; Rachman et al., 2004b; Seobi et al., 2005)

This review shows that while several studies have been carried out on the effect of pig manure on soil physical properties, there have been very few studied on the effect of solid pig manure on soil physical properties. We are also not aware of any study that made a direct comparison between liquid and solid pig manures for their effect on the physical properties of prairie soils. Therefore the objective of this study were

- To determine the effect of liquid and solid pig manure on soil physical properties following 5 years of manure application, and
- To determine the influence of annual and perennial cropping system on soil physical properties.

2.3 Materials and Methods

2.3.1 Site information and experiment overview

The study was established in 2009 at the University of Manitoba's Ian Morrison Research Station in Carman, Manitoba. The soil at the site is of the Orthic Black Chernozem order and Hibsin soil series, which is characterized as coarse loamy surface soils underlain by clayey deposits. The soil is moderately well-drained. The site was seeded to annual and perennial crops from the start of the experiment in 2009 and maintained till 2013. The site consists of 40 plots of dimensions 10 m x 10 m. Each plot was separated by a distance of 2 m and a distance of 5 m between replicates to serve as a buffer.

The experimental design was a split plot (Figure 2.1) with cropping system as the main plot and manure treatment as the sub-plot, replicated four times. For the annual cropping system, a canola-barley crop rotation was maintained till fall of 2013. For the perennial crop, a mixture of timothy and orchard grass was maintained till fall of 2012, then ploughed under and seeded with canola in 2013 (Akinremi et al., 2014).

The manure treatments were N-based liquid pig manure (T1) - plots to which liquid pig manure was applied in 2009- 2013 at rates targeted to meet the N needs of the crops; N-based solid pig manure (T3) - plots to which solid pig manure was applied in 2009-2013 at rates of application that targeted the N needs of the crops; Control (T5) - plots to which no manure or synthetic fertilizer was applied.

The liquid pig manure was applied as a slurry while the solid was applied through surface broadcast in all five years of the study. Incorporation of manure was done on annual plots alone while manure was not incorporated into the soil on perennial plots (except in 2013 when the plots were seeded to canola). The characteristics of liquid and solid pig manure applied during the five years study is shown in Table 2.1.



NCLE LONG-TERM ROTATION PLOT LAYOUT AT CARMAN

Figure 2.1. Plot layout at Carman

Solid pig manure			Liquid pig manure			
Year	Moisture	Dry matter	Total C (dry basis)	Moisture	Dry matter	Total C (dry basis)
		%			%	
2009	70	30	9	93	7	4
2010	70	30	16	98	2	4
2011	78	22	20	98	2	2
2012	76	24	23	97	3	5
2013	75	25	22	98	2	4

Table 2.1 Manure characteristics in all five years of the study

2.3.2 Sample collection

Soil samples were collected in the spring of 2014 before manure application. Undisturbed soil samples for bulk density and saturated hydraulic conductivity were collected using soil core (diameter of 5 cm and 5 cm in height). Soil samples for water retention were collected using soil cores of 3 cm height and 5 cm diameter. Soils for aggregate stability measurement were collected using an aggregate stability shovel (a square shaped shovel tip). The shovel ensured that little disturbance was applied to the soil during collection. All soil samples were collected at 0-10 cm and 10-20 cm depth intervals with two random samples collected per plot. For aggregate stability, two random soil samples were collected at the 0-5 cm depth.
2.3.3 Laboratory Analysis

Saturated hydraulic conductivity was determined first on the cores, using the falling head method (Klute and Dirksen, 1986). Bulk density was then determined using the core method on the same soil that was used for saturated hydraulic conductivity measurement, as the ratio of oven dry weight of soil to the total volume of soil (Blake and Hartge, 1986). Soil samples for aggregate stability were air-dried and crushed by hand, then passed through a 6.3 mm sieve. Wet aggregate stability was measured using the wet sieving technique (Yoder, 1936) and mean weight diameter was calculated following the method of Kemper and Rosenau (1986). Aggregate mass of 50 g with diameter \leq 6.3 mm was used in the measurement of mean weight diameter. Saturated soil within the core of height 3 cm was placed on a ceramic plate in a pressure chamber. These were then equilibrated with pressures of 20 kPa and 1500 kPa to determine water retention at field capacity and permanent wilting point, respectively. At equilibrium, samples were taken out of the chamber and gravimetric moisture content was determined on the samples using the thermo gravimetric method (Gardner, 1986). The product of gravimetric moisture content and bulk density of the samples gave the volumetric moisture content.

2.3.4 Calculations

Saturated hydraulic conductivity was calculated using Darcy's equation for saturated flow,

$$K = \frac{A_1 L}{A_2 t} \ln \frac{H_1}{H_2} \tag{1}$$

Where K is the saturated hydraulic conductivity in cm/hr

 A_1 is the cross sectional area of the standpipe (cm²) A_2 is the area of the soil core (cm²) L is the length of the soil in the core (cm) t is time taken for 200 ml of water to pass through the soil (hr) H_1 is the height from initial water level to the base of the core (cm) H_2 is the height from final water level in standpipe to the base of the core (cm).

The volume of soil was calculated using the formula for volume of a cylinder, $\pi r^2 h$.

Bulk density was calculated as the ratio of the total mass of the dry soil (Ms) to the

total volume of the soil (Vt).

$$\rho b = \frac{M_s}{V_t} \tag{2}$$

Mean weight diameter was determined using the method by Kempau and Rosenau, (1986)

$$MWD = \sum_{i=1}^{n} X_i W_i \tag{3}$$

where X_i is the mean diameter of any particular size range of aggregates separated by sieving

 W_i is the weight of aggregates in that size range as a fraction of total dry weight of sample, with the summation, carried out over all n (6) size fractions

n is the number of size fractions = number of sieves used plus one = 6

The sieve diameters were 4, 2, 1, 0.5 and 0.25 mm respectively.

The volumetric water content (θ_v) of water retention samples were calculated as the product of the pre-calculated bulk density (ρ_b) of soil samples and gravimetric moisture content (θ_g) .

$$\theta_{\nu} = \left(\frac{M_{w}}{M_{s}}\right) X \left(\frac{\rho_{b}}{\rho_{w}}\right) \tag{4}$$

2.3.5 Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed using PROC GLIMMIX in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, 2014). Analysis of variance was performed separately for each depth interval (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm) for all soil physical property measured as depth was not of primary interest in the study. Means were compared using the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test at a probability level of 0.05. PROC UNIVARIATE was used to test for normality and a Gaussian distribution was assumed for the response variables in the model for analysis. Samples collected per plot were treated as independent samples in the model.

2.4. Results

2.4.1. Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity

Analysis of variance showed significant effect of cropping system and manure treatment on the Ksat (Table 2.2). Soils to which SPM was applied had a significantly greater Ksat than soil that received LPM or the control that received no manure or fertilizer in both soil depth intervals (0-10 cm, 10-20 cm). There was no significant difference in Ksat between soil amended with LPM and the control (Fig. 2.2). Soils sown to perennial grasses had a significantly greater saturated hydraulic conductivity compared with annual plots. There was no significant interaction between cropping system and manure treatment for Ksat in both soil depth intervals (Table 2.2).

Group means	Ksat (cm hr ⁻¹)		Bulk density (g cm ⁻³)		Aggregate stability (mm)	Water retention at field capacity (cm ³ cm ⁻³)		Water retention at PWP (cm ³ cm ⁻³) 0.10 cm = 10.20 cm		AWC (cm ³ cm ⁻³)	
	0-10 cm	10-20cm	0-10 cm	10-20 cm	0-10 cm	0-10 cm	10-20 cm	0-10 cm	10-20 cm	0-10 cm	10-20 cm
Cropping system											
Annual	4.32 b	0.55	1.26 a	1.50	2.07	0.17	0.20	0.07	0.09	0.10	0.11
Perennial	5.66 a	0.83	1.11 b	1.49	1.68	0.21	0.20	0.085	0.08	0.12	0.12
Model						- P valu	ie ^a				
Cropping system	0.04	0.08	0.02	0.76	0.19	0.03	0.97	0.11	0.27	0.001	0.21
Manure	<0.0001	0.01	<0.0001	0.002	0.0002	<0.0001	0.004	<0.0001	0.24	<0.0001	0.02
Cropping system × manure	0.99	0.69	0.27	0.09	0.36	<0.0001	0.37	0.001	0.64	0.001	0.57

Table 2.2. Effect of manure and cropping system on soil physical properties in the 0-10 cm and 10-20 cm depth intervals

^a Probability value is significant at 0.05 and highlighted in bold



Figure 2.2 Effect of manure treatment on saturated hydraulic conductivity in the (A) 0-10 cm depth (B) 10-20 cm depth. Error bars represent standard errors of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

2.4.2 Bulk Density

All manure treatment means were significantly different from each other in the 0-10 cm layer (Fig. 2.3a). The bulk density of soils amended with manure decreased from liquid to solid pig manure. In the 10-20 cm depth interval, only manure treatment was significant, with soils amended with SPM having the smallest bulk density. Soils amended with liquid pig manure and the control were not significantly different in the 10-20 cm depth (Fig. 2.3b)

Soils under perennial grasses had a smaller bulk density than those under annual crop in the 0-10 cm depth (Table 2.2). There was no significant cropping system effect on bulk density in the 10-20 cm depth interval (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.3 Manure treatment effect on soil bulk density in the (A) 0-10 cm depth (B) 10-20 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

2.4.3 Aggregate Stability

Soils amended with manure had aggregate stability values that were significantly greater than the control. However, there was no significant difference between soil aggregate stability for LPM and SPM amended soils (Figure 2.4). Aggregate stability for soils cropped to annual crops and perennial grasses were not significantly different from one another (no cropping effect) (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.4 Effect of manure treatment on aggregate stability. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey -Kramer multiple comparison test

2.4.4 Water retention at Field Capacity

The treatment by cropping system interaction was significant (P <0.05) for water retention at field capacity in the 0-10 cm depth interval (Table 2.2). In annual plots, water retention at field capacity was greater in pig manure-amended soils. No difference was observed between water retention at field capacity in SPM and LPM amended soils. On perennial plots, SPM-amended soils was had the highest water retention (0.2914 cm³ cm⁻³), while LPM did not significantly affect this property (Figure 2.5). In the 10-20 cm depth interval, there was no treatment by cropping system interaction; however manure effect was significant in soils amended with SPM having greater moisture content at field capacity compared to the control and LPM (Fig 2.6).



Figure 2.5 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on soil water retention at field capacity in the 0-10 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey -Kramer multiple comparison test

Note: Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison was done within each cropping system



Figure 2.6 Effect of manure treatment on soil water retention at field capacity in the 10-20 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

2.4.5 Water retention at Permanent Wilting Point

The manure treatment by cropping system interaction was significant (P=0.0001) for water retention at permanent wilting point in the 0-10 cm depth interval (Table 2.2). On perennial plots, soils to which SPM was applied had the greatest water retention at PWP (0.1145 cm³ cm⁻³) while pig manure-amended soils (SPM and LPM) significantly increased water retention relative to the control at permanent wilting point in annual plots (Figure 2.7). For the 10-20 cm depth interval, both cropping system and manure treatment effects were not significant. The manure treatment by cropping system interaction was also non-significant in the 10-20 cm depth interval (Table 2.2).



Figure 2.7 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on soil water retention at PWP in the 0-10 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

Note: Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison was done within each cropping system

2.4.6 Available Water

In the 0-10 cm depth interval, the manure treatment by cropping system interaction was significant (P< 0.05) for available water (Table 2.2). Perennial plots amended with SPM had the greater available water than LPM amended soils or the control on perennial plots. On annual plots, SPM significantly increased available water compared to the control (Fig 2.8).

In the 10-20 cm depth interval, similar to results from water retention at field capacity, the manure treatment effect was significant with SPM-amended soils having greater available water content than control or LPM amended soils, however, the available water in SPM amended soils was not significantly different from soils to which LPM was applied (Fig 2.9).



Figure 2.8 Effect of cropping system by manure treatment interaction on available water at the 0-10 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test Note: Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison was done within each cropping system



Figure 2.9 Effect of manure treatment on available water at the 10-20 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letters are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test.

2.5 Discussion

2.5.1 Saturated Hydraulic Conductivity

The improvement in saturated hydraulic conductivity in soils amended with SPM could be a result of increase in soil organic matter due to manure addition and the stimulation of soil aggregation (Celik et al., 2004). It could also be due to the presence of bedding materials with high C: N ratio in the manure which is a source of organic carbon (Fares et al., 2008; Veiga et al., 2009). The high C: N ratio of these bedding materials causes a slower rate of manure decomposition leading to greater long term effect on soils (Comin et al., 2013).

The lack of a significant difference in Ksat for soils in control plots and soils amended with LPM is consistent with results by Fares et al. (2008), who reported no significant differences in the saturated hydraulic conductivity of a tropical soil amended with liquid pig manure and the control. They likened this to a ponded manure situations, where the particulate materials in LPM which could result in sealing of pores, thereby reducing Ksat (Rowsell et al, 1985; Asada et al, 2012). The behaviour of the soils amended with LPM may also be due to lower organic carbon content of LPM compared to the solid manure and differences in the quality of the organic carbon of the two manures (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989).

The effect of cropping system on the saturated hydraulic conductivity is similar to the result obtained by Rachman et al. (2004a) and Seobi et al. (2005) in which soils cropped to perennial vegetation had greater saturated hydraulic conductivity compared to row crops. The creation of new pores from the active and decaying roots of the perennial grasses or expansion of old pores might have resulted in the increase in saturated hydraulic conductivity (Rachman et al., 2004a). Also, the presence of larger and deeper roots, and greater root biomass of perennial grasses in the 0-10 cm depth interval compared to annual crops is another reason for increased Ksat in perennial plots (DuPont et al., 2014). Cropping effect was observed only in the 0-10 cm depth interval due to this depth being the region containing majority of the plant root biomass (DuPont et al., 2014).

2.5.2 Bulk Density

The decrease in bulk density of pig manure amended soils is attributed to the addition of organic material (pig manure) to the soil (Haynes and Naidu, 1998; Celik et al., 2004; Fares et al., 2008) or an increase in soil organic carbon (Miller et al., 2002b). The result obtained from this study is consistent with those of Asefa et al. (2004),

Celik et al. (2004), Fares et al. (2008) who also reported decrease in bulk density with pig manure addition to soil. The greater decrease in bulk density was in soils to which solid pig manure was added. This was due to the presence of straw bedding material with high C:N ratio in solid pig manure (Magdoff, 1993; Comin et al., 2013). In our study, a decrease of 6-14% in bulk density at the 0-10 cm depth was observed. This result corroborates that of Fares et al. (2008) who reported that cattle and dairy manure produced a greater effect on soil properties due to the presence of bedding materials in the solid manures (dairy and beef manure). Liquid pig manure is low in organic carbon when compared to solid manures (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989). An inverse relationship exists between soil organic carbon and bulk density (Comin et al., 2013). Manures with higher organic carbon content have significantly greater effect on soil properties compared to low SOC manures (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989), hence the smallest bulk density observed for SPM amended soil is attributed to its greater soil organic carbon compared to LPM.

Bulk density was lower at the surface soil than in the 10-20 cm layer. This is due to the over burden pressure of the overlaying soil layer(s) and also the decrease in organic matter content with depth (Franzluebbers, 2002; Prévost, 2004; Perie and Ouimet, 2008; Comin et al., 2013). Solid pig manure significantly reduced the bulk density of the lower depth soil by 5%. The effect of SPM on bulk density in the lower layer could also be attributed to better soil aggregation with pig manure addition, which increased soil total porosity and by implication, reduced soil bulk density (Fares et al., 2008; Asada et al., 2012).

The decrease in bulk density of soils cropped to perennial grasses may be due to the creation of new pores from the active and decaying roots of the perennial grasses or expansion of old pores (Rachman et al., 2004a), which by implication, increased the

39

total porosity. The increased porosity thereby decreased bulk density. It could also be because of greater organic carbon content from the residues of perennial forages and root biomass (Magdoff, 1993; Wienhold and Tanaka, 2001; Rachman et al., 2004a) and better soil aggregation under perennial grasses compared to annual cropping. This is consistent with a study by Rachman et al. (2004a) in which soil within perennial hedges had a significantly lower bulk density than those with row crop hedges.

2.5.3 Aggregate Stability

The increase in aggregate stability of pig manure-amended soils could be attributed to an increase in organic carbon content of soil (Dunjana et al., 2012) and binding agents from the added manure (Tisdall and Oades, 1982). Bedding materials in solid manures contain hemicellulose and lignin, which decomposes slowly (Magdoff, 1993; Prescott, 2005), and thus have a long lasting effect as binding agents of soil aggregates (Celik et al., 2004). The time frame of the study (5 years) could be the reason why LPM and SPM behaved similarly (Carter and Campbell, 2006). It is possible that greater effect of SPM would be recorded with time as the mineralization of organic carbon in manure is time dependent. Carter and Campbell (2006) reported no change in aggregate stability of a soil to which LPM was added after 3 years of manure application but differences in aggregate stability as a result of manure application has been observed after 7 years (Dunjana et al., 2012).

The effect of cropping system on aggregate stability reported in our study is in contrast to the investigation by Rachman et al. (2003) in which soils cropped to perennial timothy after 100 years had higher mean weight diameter compared to annual fields. The non-significance of the cropping system could be a result of the short term nature of our study (5 years).

2.5.4 Water Retention

2.5.4.1 Water retention at Field Capacity

In the 0-10 cm depth interval, the effect of manure type on water retention at field capacity varied with cropping system. In annual plots, the increase in water retention of pig manure amended soils could be attributed to better aggregation and increase in micro porosity with manure addition (Benbi et al., 1998). Solid pig manure amended soils in perennial plots had significantly greater soil water retention at field capacity than the control or LPM. This may be due to the combined effect of cropping system and manure contributing organic carbon to the soil. Perennial grasses have been known to sequester carbon (Wienhold and Tanaka, 2001, Franzluebbers et al., 2014); as a result, a greater percentage of organic carbon is added to the soil by perennial grasses compared to annual crops. The organic carbon sequestered by perennial grasses combined with organic carbon from SPM could have resulted in the larger effect of SPM on water retention at field capacity on perennial plots. This shows that the manure in conjunction with the type of cropping system employed can improve soil water retention at field capacity, resulting from a synergistic effect.

In the lower layer (10-20 cm), the increase in water retention at field capacity with SPM addition could be attributed to the increase in organic carbon content, better soil aggregation and greater micro-porosity because of the manure applied (Benbi et al., 1998; Moskal et al., 2001; Zhang et al., 2006).

2.5.4.2 Water retention at Permanent Wilting Point

In the 0-10 cm soil layer, the effect of manure and cropping system on SWR at permanent wilting point was similar to that observed for water retention at field capacity. The increase in water retention at permanent wilting point in pig manure amended soils in annual plots could be attributed to better aggregation with manure addition to the soil (Benbi et al., 1998). The significant interaction of cropping system by manure type could be attributed to the synergistic effect of perennial cropping system and solid pig manure, contributing organic carbon to the soil which increased water retention at permanent wilting point. Perennial grasses sequesters carbon (Wienhold and Tanaka, 2001; Franzluebbers et al., 2014), as a result, a greater quantity of organic carbon is added to the soil by perennial grasses compared to annual crops (Culman et al., 2010; DuPont et al., 2014). Solid pig manure has also been shown to increase soil water retention at permanent wilting point (Asada et al., 2012).

The non-significance of manure or cropping system on water retention at PWP in the 10-20 cm layer may be due to the 0-10 cm layer being the region of manure application and greater accumulation of the root biomass (DuPont et al., 2014)

2.5.4.3 Plant Available Water

The effect of manure and cropping system on plant available water in the 0-10 cm layer, was similar to manure and cropping system effects on water retention at field capacity. The addition of solid manure to the soil can increase soil water retention at field capacity and/or permanent wilting point (Asada et al., 2012), which may lead to an increase in plant available water. The increase in available water of SPM amended soils in both annual and perennial plots could be attributed to better soil aggregation and greater organic carbon content of these soils due to manure addition

In the 10-20 cm layer, results from our study on available water of SPM-amended soils are in accord with those of Blanco-Canqui et al. (2015), who reported an increase in soil available water in the 15-30 cm layer with the addition of solid beef cattle manure. The increase in available water in our study can be attributed to an increase in soil organic carbon (Blanco-Canqui et al., 2015; Miller et al., 2002a), better aggregation and increased micro-porosity with manure addition (Benbi et al., 1998).

The non-significance of the cropping system effect on available water may be due to the 0-10 cm depth being the region of abundant root biomass (Culman et al., 2010; DuPont et al., 2014).

2.6 Conclusion

The application of pig manure improved physical properties of an Orthic Black Chernozem after five years. The improvement in these properties was attributed to the increase in organic carbon of the manure-amended soil.

Solid pig manure had the greatest effect on soil physical properties because of the recalcitrant straw bedding materials. The greatest effect was observed in the 0-10 cm layer and this is because the top soil is the region of manure application, and the region of biological activities such as decomposition and release of nutrients and organic carbon. Bulk density was significantly reduced and aggregate stability was significantly greater with pig manure application. Manure addition did not greatly impact soil physical properties in the 10-20 cm layer. Though soils amended with SPM had a significantly higher saturated hydraulic conductivity, water retention and smaller bulk density, LPM did not affect properties in the 10-20 cm layer.

The effect of cropping system was only significant for saturated hydraulic conductivity and bulk density and was restricted to the top soil (0-10 cm layer). This was attributed to the topsoil being the region of abundant root biomass and biological activity and may also be due to the fact that the soil was ploughed only in the fourth year of the study. Soils under perennial cropping had a significantly higher saturated hydraulic conductivity and lower bulk density than soils in annual plots.

We conclude that SPM has the potential as an organic amendment to improve surface soil physical properties. Results from our study also suggest that soils under perennial cropping can have increased saturated hydraulic conductivity and lower bulk density with time.

2.7 References

- Ahmed, S.I., Mickelson, S.K., Penderson, C.H., Baker, J.L., Kanwar, R.S., Lorimor, J.C. and Webber, D. 2013. Swine manure rate , timing , and application method effects on post-harvest soil nutrients , crop yield , and potential water quality implications in a corn-soybean rotation. Am. Soc. Agric. Biol. Eng. 56: 395–408.
- Akinremi, O.O., Ige, D. V. and Bammeke, M. 2014. Downward movement of nitrate and phosphorus from liquid and solid hog manure under annual and perennial cropping systems. Manitoba.
- Antil, R.S., and Singh, M. 2007. Effects of organic manures and fertilizers on organic matter and nutrients status of the soil. Arch. Agron. Soil Sci. 53: 519– 528
- Asada, K., Yabushita, Y., Saito, H. and Nishimura, T. 2012. Effect of long-term swine-manure application on soil hydraulic properties and heavy metal behaviour. Eur. J. Soil Sci. 63: 368–376.
- Assefa, B.A., Schoenau, J.J. and Grevers, M.C.J. 2004. Effects of four annual applications of manure on Black Chernozemic soils. Can. Biosyst. Eng. 46: 6–39
- Barbosa, G.M.D.C., De Oliveira, J.F., Miyazawa, M., Ruiz, D.B. and Filho, J.T. 2015. Aggregation and clay dispersion of an oxisol treated with swine and poultry manures. Soil Tillage Res. 146: 279–285
- Beaulieu, M. 2004. Manure management in Canada. Farm Environ. Manag. Canada: Available at http://publications.gc.ca/Collection/Statcan/21-021-M/21-021-MIE2004001.pdf (verified 13 January 2015).
- Benbi, D.K., Biswas, C.R., Bawa, S.S. and Kumar, K. 1998. Influence of farmyard manure, inorganic fertilizers and weed control practices on some soil physical properties in a long-term experiment. Soil Use Manage 14: 52–54.

- Blanco-Canqui, H., Hergert, G.W. and Nielsen, R. A. 2015. Cattle manure application reduces soil compactibility and increases water retention after 71 years. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 79: 212
- Blake, G.R., and Hartge, K.H. 1986. Bulk density. p. 363–375. In A. Klute (ed.) Methods of soil analysis. Part 1. 2nd ed. Agron. Monogr. 9. ASA and SSSA, Madison, WI.
- **Carter, M.R. and Campbell, A. J. 2006.** Influence of tillage and liquid swine manure on productivity of a soybean-barley rotation and some properties of a fine sandy loam in Prince Edward Island. Can. J. Soil Sci. **86**: 741–748.
- Celik, I., Ortas, I. and Kilic, S. 2004. Effects of compost, mycorrhiza, manure and fertilizer on some physical properties of a Chromoxerert soil. Soil Tillage Res. 78: 59–67.
- Comin, J.J., Loss, A., Veiga, M., Guardini, R., Schmitt, D.E., Victoria de Oliveira, P.A., Filho, P.B., Couto, R., Benedet, L., Júnior, V.M. and Brunetto, G. 2013. Physical properties and organic carbon content of a Typic Hapludult soil fertilised with pig slurry and pig litter in a no-tillage system. Soil Res. 51: 459
- Cransberg, L., and McFarlane, D.J. 1994. Can perennial pastures provide the basis for a sustainable farming system in southern Australia? New Zeal. J. Agric. Res. 37: 287–294
- Culman, S.W., DuPont, S.T., Glover, J.D., Buckley, D.H., Fick, G.W., Ferris, H. and Crews, T.E. 2010. Long-term impacts of high-input annual cropping and unfertilized perennial grass production on soil properties and belowground food webs in Kansas, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137: 13–24
- DuPont, S. T., Beniston, J., Glover, J. D., Hodson, A., Culman, S.W., Lal, R. and Ferris, H. 2014. Root traits and soil properties in harvested perennial grassland, annual wheat, and never-tilled annual wheat. Plant and Soil 381: 405–420.

- Dunjana, N., Nyamugafata, P., Shumba, A., Nyamangara, J. and Zingore, S.2012. Effects of cattle manure on selected soil physical properties of smallholder farms on two soils of Murewa, Zimbabwe. Soil Use Manage. 28: 221–228.
- Fares, A., Abbas, F., Ahmad, A., Deenik, J.L. and Safeeq, M. 2008. Response of selected soil physical and hydrologic properties to manure amendment rates, levels and types. Soil Sci. 173: 522–533
- **Franzluebbers, A.J. 2002**. Water infiltration and soil structure related to organic matter and its stratification with depth.pdf. Soil Tillage Res. **66**: 197–205.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Sawchik, J. and Taboada, M.A. 2014. Agronomic and environmental impacts of pasture–crop rotations in temperate North and South America. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 190: 18–26.
- Gao, G., and Chang, C. 1996. Changes in CEC and particle size distribution of soils associated with long-term annual applications of cattle feedlot manure. Soil Sci. 161: 115–120
- Gardner, W. H. 1986. Water Content. In A. Klute (ed.) Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 1. Physical and Minerological Methods. 2nd edn. Soil Science Society of America. Inc. Madison, Winsconsin, pp. 493-544
- Haynes, R. J. and Naidu, R. 1998. Influence of lime, fertilizer and manure applications on soil organic matter content and soil physical conditions: a review. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 51: 123-137.
- Hillel, D. 1980. Applications of soil physics. Academic Press Inc. New York. pp. 67
- IUSS Working Group WRB, (2006): World reference base for soil resources 2006 -A framework for international classification, correlation and communication, Rome, Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations.
- Jiang, Y., and Shao. M. 2014. Effects of soil structural properties on saturated hydraulic conductivity under different land-use types. Soil Res. 52: 340–348.

- Kemper, W.D., and Rosenau, R.C. 1986. Aggregate stability and size distribution. In: Methods of soil analysis. Part 1: physical and mineralogical methods. A. Klute (eds) (Monograph no.9,2nd edn). ASA, Madison, Wis, America.
- Klute, A., and Dirksen, C. 1986. Hydraulic conductivity and diffusivity, laboratory methods. p. 687–732. In A. Klute (ed.) Methods of soil analysis. Part 1. SSSA, Madison, WI
- Limon-Ortega, A., Govaerts, B., and Sayre, K.D. 2009. Crop rotation, wheat straw management, and chicken manure effects on soil quality. Agron. J. 101: 600.
- Magdoff, F. 1993. Building soils for better crops: Organic matter management. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press
- Mbagwu, J.S. 2003. Aggregate stability and soil degradation in the tropics. Aggregate Stability and Soil Degradation in the Tropics. A Lecture given at the College on Soil Physics, Trieste .Availableathttp://inis.iaea.org/search/search.aspx?orig_q=RN:38100118 (verified 25 January 2015).
- Miller, J.J., Sweetland, N.J. and Chang, C. 2002a. Hydrological properties of a clay loam soil after long-term cattle manure application. J. Environ. Qual. 31: 989– 996.
- Miller, J.J., Sweetland, N.J. and Chang, C. 2002b. Soil physical properties of a Chernozemic clay loam after 24 years of beef cattle manure application. Can. J. Soil Sci. 82: 287–296.
- Moskal, T.D., Leskiw, L., Naeth, M. A and Chanasyk, D.S. 2001. Effect of organic carbon (peat) on moisture retention of peat:mineral mixes. Can. J. Soil Sci. 81: 205–211.
- Nakajima, T., Lal, R. and Jiang, S. 2015. Soil quality index of a crosby silt loam in central Ohio. Soil Tillage Res. 146: 323–328

- Ndayegamiye, A., and Cote, D. 1989. Effect of long-term pig slurry and solid cattle manure application on soil chemical and biological properties. Can. J. Soil Sci. 67: 39–47.
- Perie, C., and Ouimet, R. 2008. Organic carbon, organic matter and bulk density relationships in boreal forest soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 88: 315–325.
- **Prescott, C.E. 2005**. Do rates of litter decomposition tell us anything we really need to know? For. Ecol. Manage. **220**: 66–74.
- Prévost, M. 2004. Predicting soil properties from organic matter content following mechanical site preparation of forest soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68: 943.
- Qian, P., and Schoenau, J.J. 2002. Availability of nitrogen in solid manure amendments with different C:N ratios. Can. J. Soil Sci. 82: 219–225.
- Quiroga, A., Buschiazzo, D. and Peinemann, N. 1999. Soil compaction is related to management practices in the semi-arid Argentine pampas. Soil Tillage Res. 52: 21–28
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J. and Alberts, E.E. 2004a. Soil hydraulic properties influenced by stiff-stemmed grass hedge systems. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68: 1386-1393.
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J. and Thompson, A.L. 2004b. Influence of stiff-stemmed grass hedge systems on infiltration. Soil Science Society of America Journal 68: 2000–2006.
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J. and Thompson, A.L. 2003. Influence of long-term cropping systems on soil physical properties related to soil erodibility. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 67: 637–644.
- Rowsell, J.G., Miller, M.H. and Groenevelt, P.H. 1985. Self-sealing of earthen liquid manure storage ponds: II. Rate and mechanism of sealing.J. Environ. Qual.14:539 – 543.

- Ruehlmann, J., and Körschens, M. 2009. Calculating the effect of soil organic matter concentration on soil bulk density. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 73: 876.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2014. SAS® 9.4 Language Reference: Concepts, Fourth Edition. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.
- Schoenau, J.J., and Davis, J.G. 2006. Optimizing soil and plant responses to land-applied manure nutrients in the Great Plains of North America. Can. J. Soil Sci.
 86: 587–595
- Seguel, O., Baginsky, C., Contreras, A., Covarrubias, J.I., González, C. and Poblete, L. 2013. Physical properties of a fine textured haplocambid after three years of organic matter amendments management. J. soil Sci. plant Nutr. 13:690-705
- Seobi, T., Anderson, S.H., Udawatta, R.P. and Gantzer, C.J. 2005. Influence of grass and agroforestry buffer strips on soil hydraulic properties for an albaqualf. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 69: 893.
- Sri Ranjan, R., Manokararajah, K. and Wiebe, C. 2005. Assessing the hydraulic conductivity beneath clay-lined earthen manure storages. Can. Biosyst. Eng. / Le Genie des Biosyst. au Canada 47: 1–7.
- Statistics Canada, 2014. Hog inventories by province (Quarterly). http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/prim51h-eng.htm (Accessed 14.11.14).
- Sun, H., Larney, F.J. and Bullock, M.S. 1995. Soil amendments and water-stable aggregation of a desurfaced Dark Brown Chernozem. Can. J. Soil Sci. 75: 319– 325.
- Tisdall, J., and Oades, J. 1982. Organic matter and water-stable aggregates in soils.
 J. soil Sci. 33: 141–163
- Veiga, M., Reinert, D.J. and Reichert, J.M. 2009. Aggregate stability as affected by short and long-term tillage systems and nutrient sources of a hapludox in southern Brazil. Rev. Bras. Ciência do Solo 33: 767–777

- Wallace, J. 2000. Increasing agricultural water use efficiency to meet future food production. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 82: 105–119
- Wienhold, B., and Tanaka, D.L. 2001. Soil property changes during conversion from perennial vegetation to annual cropping. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. J. 65: 1795–1803.
- Wortmann, C.S., and Shapiro, C.A. 2008. The effects of manure application on soil aggregation. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 80: 173–180.
- Yoder, R. E. 1936. A direct method of aggregate analysis of soils and a study of the physical nature of erosion losses. J. Am. Soc. Agron. 28:337-351
- Zhang, S., Yang, X., Wiss, M., Grip, H. and Lövdahl, L. 2006. Changes in physical properties of a loess soil in China following two long-term fertilization regimes. Geoderma 136: 579–587.

3. CHEMICAL PROPERTIES OF AN ORTHIC BLACK CHERNOZEM AFTER 5 YEARS OF LIQUID AND SOLID PIG MANURE APPLICATION

3.1 Abstract

Pig (*Sus scrofa*) manure is a good source of plant nutrients and can influence soil chemical properties. Limited information exists on the effect of solid pig manure and cropping system on chemical properties of prairie soils.

The study was established in 2009 at the University of Manitoba's Ian Morrison Research Station in Carman, Manitoba. The treatment design was a split plot with cropping system (annual and perennial) as the main plot and manure treatment (N-based LPM, N-based SPM, and a control) as the subplot. Soil samples were collected from two depth intervals (0-15 cm and 15-30 cm) in the spring of 2014 for determination of total N and P, available N and P, pH, electrical conductivity (EC), organic carbon (C), cation exchange capacity (CEC), and exchangeable cations. In the 0-15 cm layer, SPM increased CEC by 9%, and concentrations of available P by 60%, total P by 19%, organic C by 18%, available N by 25%, and exchangeable K by 218% relative to LPM-amended soils (P< 0.05). Exchangeable Ca concentration in the 0-15 cm depth interval decreased by 33% with LPM than with SPM application. Soils under perennial grasses had significantly greater available N concentration in both soil layers compared with soil under annual cropping. Cropping effect was not significant for other properties measured. We conclude that SPM has the potential as to positively influence chemical properties of the top soil

3.2 Introduction

Pig production has increased rapidly in western Canada (Novek, 2003). Manitoba pig industry contributed over 2.9 million pigs, of the total Canada pig production (13 million pigs) in the first 6 months of 2014 (Statistics Canada, 2014). On a global scale, the pig industry generates up to 1.7 billion tonnes of liquid manure annually (Choudhary et al., 1996). A pig, on the average, excretes 2 tonnes of manure per year (Larson, 1991) and due to the high pig production rate in Manitoba, large quantities of manure are generated yearly in Manitoba (Sri Ranjan et al., 2005). The Manitoba pig industry produce an estimated 5 million tonnes of manure annually (Nikiema et al., 2013).

Pig manure is a valuable fertilizer and organic amendment. It contains the essential nutrients needed for plant growth and crop production and can influence soil chemical properties (Lourenzi et al., 2011; Penha et al., 2015), which are important in determining soil productivity (Magdoff, 1993). The chemical fertility of a soil is dependent on its chemical properties, some of which are, the organic matter content, soil organic carbon, available phosphorus, available nitrogen, total nitrogen and phosphorus, pH and electrical conductivity.

Pig slurry is rich in total N and ammonium-N (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989; Schoenau and Davis, 2006). Land application of liquid pig manure increased soil available N concentration in studies by Mooleki et al. (2002), Nikiema et al. (2013), Woli et al. (2013). In a study by Ndayegamiye and Cote (1989), high rates of pig slurry (120 m³ ha⁻¹) increased soil organic carbon and potentially mineralizable nitrogen of an acidic silty loam soil. Mooleki et al. (2004) reported an increase in available N concentrations of a Black Chernozem sandy loam following 4 years of cattle manure application at high rates (400 kg ha⁻¹). Chantigny et al. (2001) also reported an increase in soil mineral N concentration of pig slurry amended soils during a 28 days field experiment to evaluate short term carbon and nitrogen dynamics. Nikiema et al. (2013) observed that pig manure significantly increased the soil nitrate-N level of a loamy sand after 3 consecutive years and suggested that the application of pig manure at high rates can lead to a higher soil residual nitrate level. Smanhotto et al. (2013) also reported an increase in nitrate-N and potassium concentrations following pig slurry application to a typic Rhodic Hapludox soil.

An increase in soil total N after 19 successive applications of pig slurry was reported by Lourenzi et al. (2013). The extractable K of a Black Chernozem was significantly greater in the soils amended with high rates of liquid pig manure compared to the control (Qian et al., 2005). An increase in soil total N and exchangeable K was also observed after application of 300-400 m³ ha⁻¹ of pig slurry to two calcareous soils (Bernal et al., 1993).

Phosphorus is another major nutrient whose concentrations can be influenced by pig manure application (Khakbazan et al., 2013). Pig manure is rich in P (Von Wandruszka, 2006). A study by Royer et al. (2003) showed that eight annual applications of liquid pig manure at high rates increased soil total P concentrations and other labile P forms. McAndrews et al. (2006) concluded that the application of solid pig manure resulted in an increase in Bray P and exchangeable K concentrations of soils amended with this manure. In another detailed study on the effect of pig manure on soil chemical properties of forage land by Olson and Papworth (2006), an increase in nitrate-N, orthophosphate phosphorus and extractable potassium concentration with manure rate was reported. Turner et al. (2010) reported that pig effluent contributed greater quantities of K concentration and total dissolved salts than beef manure. An increase in soil available P was also reported after pig manure application at the lowest rate (100 m³ ha⁻¹) to a calcareous soil (Bernal et al., 1993). Penha et al. (2015) reported an increase in soil available P levels with increasing pig slurry rate, following nine years of pig slurry application. This increase in soil P was only observed at the soil surface (Penha et al., 2015). Also, in a study by Qian et al., (2004), total P increased following 5 annual applications of solid cattle manure to a Black Chernozem loam while no significant result was detected in soils to which liquid pig manure was added. This was attributed to the fact that a lower quantity of P was added by the liquid pig manure than the cattle manure (Qian et al., 2004).

The electrical conductivity of a soil sample estimates the salinity of the soil (Carter and Gregorich, 2008), which is the concentration of soluble salts in the soil sufficient to affect crop production adversely (Soil Science Society of America, 2001). A saline soil has an electrical conductivity of its extract exceeding 4 ds/m (Ashraf et al., 2008). Soil pH indicates the acidity of a soil solution (Carter and Gregorich, 2008). Manure can influence the electrical conductivity and pH of a soil. Plaza et al. (2002) reported an increase in EC and pH following pig slurry application. A study by Olson and Papworth, (2006) also showed an increase in EC of soils amended with pig manure. Liquid pig manure reduced the pH of a sandy loam by 5% after four annual applications (Assefa et al., 2004). No significant effect of liquid pig manure on soil pH was observed after 6 consecutive years of manure application (Ahmed et al., 2013). Smanhotto et al. (2013), however, reported an increase in soil pH after pig slurry application to a typic Rhodic Hapludox soil.

Pig manure addition to soil can increase the quantity and quality of soil total organic C, depending on manure composition, frequency of application and amount of manure applied (Brunetto et al., 2012). Brunetto et al., (2012) reported that pig slurry

application at high rates (180 kg Nha⁻¹) and pig deep litter increased soil organic carbon contents to a depth of 30 cm. This improvement was attributed to be a result of high crop biomass on these plots and the application of pig manure, which is an organic amendment (Brunetto et al., 2012). Miller et al. (2002) reported a significant increase in soil organic carbon of a Dark Brown Orthic Chernozem after 24 years of solid beef manure application.

Soil CEC is important for plant nutrient uptake and ion movement in soil (Gao and Chang, 1996, Akinremi and Cho, 1991 a,b). Ndayegamiye and Cote (1989) observed that pig slurry and solid cattle manure increased CEC in soils, however the increase in CEC was significantly larger in soils amended with cattle manure. This result was attributed to the higher organic carbon content in solid cattle manure (Ndayegamiye and Cote, 1989). An increase in CEC of a soil following nine years of repeated pig slurry application was reported by Penha et al. (2015). They concluded that the increase in the CEC may be attributed to the humic matter input because of increase in soil organic matter and changes in soil pH. Smanhotto et al. (2013) concluded that pig slurry application to a typic Rhodic Hapludox resulted in a significant increase in CEC. However, Brunetto et al., (2012) reported no change in the CEC of a soil following eight years of pig slurry application, but observed an increase in CEC in soils amended with pig deep litter. Gao and Chang, (1996) reported an increase in soil cation exchange capacity, total nitrogen and soil organic carbon content with increasing rates of cattle manure application to a Dark Brown Chernozem clay loam after 18 annual applications.

Pig manure contains Ca and Mg which derive from the animal feed (Brunetto et al., 2012). An increase in soil exchangeable Ca and Mg was reported by Brunetto et al. (2012) following eight years of pig manure applications (as pig slurry and pig deep

litter) while Qian et al. (2005) reported a decreasing trend with manure rate in amounts of exchangeable Ca in soils amended with pig manure.

The cropping system adopted on a farm can affect soil quality (Rachman et al., 2003; Limon-Ortega et al., 2009). Perennial crops can be harvested multiple times during their life time and have deeper roots than annual crops (Cransberg and McFarlane, 1994). The establishment of perennial vegetation is known to sequester C in soil organic matter and vegetation (Wienhold and Tanaka, 2001). Tiemann and Grandy, (2015) suggested that large root biomass of perennial crops and reduced tillage frequency of soils under perennial cropping could be the reasons for increased soil C accrual. Soil C sequestration is important in building soil fertility, protecting soil from compaction, and nurturing soil biodiversity (Franzluebbers et al., 2014). Subsurface nitrate leaching from soils under annual cropping is higher than losses in soils cultivated to perennial crops (Randall and Mulla, 2001; Tomer and Liebman, 2014). In a similar study by Stewart et al., (2015), comparing nitrogen effects on soil properties of soils under switch grass and no till corn, it was recorded that the decrease in available P concentration in soils under switch grass was lower (-5.38 Kg P ha⁻¹) compared to no till corn soils (-24.04 Kg Pha⁻¹) suggesting a greater use of available P or greater loss of P by surface runoff on annual plots. Perennial forages can replenish soil organic matter (Franzluebbers et al., 2014). Pugesgaard et al. (2014) also reported smaller nitrate leaching under perennial grass clover compared with winter wheat (annual crop). They also reported less compaction in perennial plots. Culman et al. (2010) reported a significant increase in total N, water stable aggregate and soil organic C concentrations in perennial grasslands compared to soils under annual crops.

This review shows that while several studies exist on the effect of liquid pig manure on soil chemical properties, very few studies have been carried out on the effect of solid pig manure and cropping system on soil chemical properties. We are also not aware of any direct comparison between solid and liquid pig manure for their effect on chemical properties of prairie soils. The objectives of this study were, therefore,

- to determine the effect of five years of liquid and solid pig manure application on selected soil chemical properties and
- to determine the influence of annual and perennial cropping system on soil chemical properties.

3.3 Materials and Methods

3.3.1 Site Information and Experiment Overview

The study was established in 2009 at the University of Manitoba's Ian Morrison Research Station in Carman, Manitoba ($49^{\circ} 29' 63$ "N, $98^{\circ} 02' 150$ " W, 239 m a.s.l). The soil at the site was a Hibsin Orthic Black Chernozem with a sandy loam texture. The site consisted of forty 10 m long x 10 m wide plots, each of which was maintained under either annual or perennial cropping from the start of the experiment in 2009.

The experimental design was a split plot (Fig 3.1), with cropping system (annual and perennial) as the main plot and manure treatment as the sub-plot, replicated four times. The manure treatments were: (1) N-based liquid pig manure (N-LPM) (liquid pig manure was applied in 2009-2013 at rates targeted to meet the crop N requirement); (2) N-based solid pig manure (N-SPM) - solid pig manure was applied

in 2009-2013 at rates targeted to meet the N needs of the crops; and (3) Control (CON) - no manure or synthetic fertilizer was applied.

In the annual cropping system, a canola-barley crop rotation was maintained until fall of 2013. In the perennial cropping system, a mixture of timothy (*Phleum pretense*) and orchard (*Dactylis glomerata*) grass was maintained till fall of 2012, then ploughed under and seeded with canola in 2013.

Liquid pig manure was applied as a slurry while solid manure was applied by surface broadcast in all five years of the study. Incorporation of manure was done on annual plots alone while manure was not incorporated into the soil on perennial plots (except in 2013 when the plots were seeded to canola).

The quantity of manure applied, total N and P, and available N applied are presented in Table 3.1 and Table 3.2.



NCLE LONG-TERM ROTATION PLOT LAYOUT AT CARMAN

Figure 3.5 Plot layout at Carman

		L	PM		SPM					
Year	Total P	Total N	Avail N	Manure applied	Total P	Total N	Avail N	Manure applied		
		kg ha ⁻¹		L ha ⁻¹		Mg ha ⁻¹				
2009	26	109	58	28758	81	69	36	22.4		
2010	175	397	222	79309	n/a	321	127	60.5		
2011	22	85	54	31488	232	397	110	61		
2012	57	200	107	36400	83	325	104	43		
2013	24	103	56	19720	48	153	41	21		
Cumulative	304	894	497	195675		1265	418	207.9		

Table 3.3 Total P, total N, available N and quantity of manure applied to annual plots in all five years of the study

Table 3.4 Total P, total N, available N and quantity of manure applied to perennial plots in all five years of the study

		L	PM		SPM					
Year	Total P	Total N	Avail N	Manure applied	Total P	Total N	Avail N	Manure applied		
	kg ha ⁻¹			L ha ⁻¹		Mg ha ⁻¹				
2009	29	123	59	32352	88.6	76	35	24.6		
2010	181	412	202	82342	n/a	216	76	40.7		
2011	44	315	95	62998	281	481	134	74		
2012	85	299	134	54410	103	400	135	53		
2013	63	272	148	52460	168	533	143	73		
Cumulative	402	1421	638	284562		1706	523	265.3		

3.3.2 Sample Collection

Soil samples were collected from each plot (0- 15 and 15-30 cm depth intervals) using a Giddings soil sampler, #15-TS Model GSRTS (Giddings Machine Co., Windsor, CO) just before treatment application in the spring of 2014. A composite sample was collected per plot from all the plots at two depths (0-15 and 15-30 cm). The samples were then air-dried and ground to pass through a 2-mm sieve in preparation for chemical analysis. Samples for organic C determination were finely ground soil (<1 mm) using a mortar and pestle.

3.3.1. Laboratory Analysis

Soil NO₃-N and NH₄-N concentrations were measured in 2 M KCl extracts (5:1 extractant to soil ratio) using cadmium reduction and phenate methods, respectively (Maynard et al., 2006). Soil available P concentration was determined using the Olsen method (Olsen et al., 1954; Olsen and Sommers 1982). Total P and total N concentrations were determined using the wet oxidation method (Akinremi et al. 2003). Total P concentration was measured in the digest using colorimetric method (Murphy and Riley, 1962) while total N concentration was measured using a Technicon auto-analyzer II (Pulse Instrumentation Ltd, Saskatoon, SK). Organic carbon was determined using the Walkley-Black acid digestion method (Walkley and Black, 1934). Cation exchange capacity (CEC) and exchangeable cation were measured with the ammonium acetate method (McKeague, 1981). Soil pH was measured in a 1:2 soil:water suspension while EC was measured in extracts from 1:1 soil:water suspensions (Janzen 1993; Rhoades 1996).
3.3.2. Statistical Analysis

Data were analysed using PROC GLIMMIX in SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, 2014). Analysis of variance was performed separately for each depth interval (0-15 cm, 15-30 cm) for all soil property measured as depth was not of primary interest in the study. PROC UNIVARIATE was used to test for normality and a Gaussian distribution was assumed for the response variables in the model for analysis. The statistical model included block as a random factor and manure and cropping system as fixed factors. Means were compared using the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test at a probability level of 0.05.

3.4 Results

3.4.1 Soil Available Phosphorus

Manure treatment and cropping system effects were significant for soil available P concentration in the 0-15 cm layer (Table 3.3) but not in the 15-30 cm layer (Table 3.4). In the 0-15 cm layer, available P concentration increased with treatment in the order CON < LPM < SPM, with both manure types (that is, SPM and LPM) significantly increasing soil available P concentration by 258- 471%, while SPM produced significantly higher available P concentration than LPM (Fig 3.2). In the same depth interval, plots under perennial grasses had 31% greater soil available P concentration than soils under annual crops (Table 3.3).



Figure 3.2 Manure treatment effect on soil available P in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

	Available P	Available N	Total P	Total N	Soil pH	Soil EC	Organic Carbon	Exch Ca	Exch K	Exch Mg	CEC
	(mg kg ⁻¹)		(µs cm ⁻¹)	(mg kg ⁻)	(cmol _c kg ⁻¹)						
Cropping system										-	
Annual	63.6 b	43.5 b	577 b	1618	6.65	356	16248	5.42	0.90	2.31	10.0
Perennial	83.2 a	54.6 a	666 a	1707	6.44	468	17892	4.69	1.02	2.26	9.64
Model effect		P value ^a									
Cropping system	<0.001	0.03	0.02	0.41	0.14	0.004	0.32	0.56	0.18	0.89	0.70
Manure	<0.0001	0.002	<0.0001	< 0.0001	0.29	0.0001	0.001	0.01	<0.0001	0.39	0.04
Cropping system × Manure	0.09	0.08	0.41	0.02	0.65	0.02	0.11	0.72	0.06	0.49	0.42

 Table 3.3. Effect of manure and cropping system on soil chemical properties at the 0-15 cm depths

^a Probability value is significant at 0.05 and highlighted in bold

	Available P	Available N	Total P	Total N	Soil pH	Soil EC	Organic Carbon	Exch Ca	Exch K	Exch Mg	CEC
	(mg kg ⁻¹)		(µs cm ⁻¹)	(mg kg ⁻¹)	cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	cmol _c kg ⁻¹)	$(\operatorname{cmol}_{c} \operatorname{kg}^{-1})$	(cmol _c kg ⁻¹)			
Cropping system										-	
Annual	9.61	21.7 b	406	1188	7.91	297	11412	11.4	0.26	3.60	10.5
Perennial	12.9	32.4 a	432	1053	7.76	411	10972	9.88	0.34	2.42	9.8
Model effect						ъ .	a ——				
Cropping system	0.41	0.007	0.43	0.56	0.57	P val 0.10	0.80	0.61	0.39	0.14	0.62
Manure	0.06	0.03	0.33	0.29	0.49	0.03	0.69	0.34	0.002	0.06	0.96
Cropping system × Manure	0.80	0.08	0.39	0.04	0.45	0.10	0.08	0.86	0.09	0.07	0.17

 Table 3.4. Effect of manure and cropping system on soil chemical properties at the 15-30 depth interval

^a Probability value is significant at 0.05 and highlighted in bold

3.4.2 Soil Available Nitrogen

Repeated application of solid pig manure to the soil increased soil available N concentration in both depth intervals (Table 3.3 and 3.4). In the 0-15 cm depth interval, SPM produced a significantly greater soil available N concentration than the control and LPM (Fig 3.3a). In the 15-30 cm soil depth interval, available N concentration in SPM-amended soil was also significantly greater than that in the control, but did not differ significantly from that in LPM-amended soil (Fig 3.3b). Averaged across manure treatments, perennial plots had significantly greater (26-49%) soil available N concentration than annual plots regardless of soil depth interval (Table 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.3 Manure treatment effect on soil available N in the (A) 0-15 cm depth (B) 15 -30 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

3.4.3 Total Nitrogen

The cropping system by manure treatment interaction was significant for total N concentration in both soil layers (Table 3.3). In the 0-15 cm layer, pig manure application increased soil total N concentration by 13-31% in perennial plots, with the greater concentration observed in SPM-amended plots. In annual plots, however, only SPM amended soils had a greater total N concentration in this layer while no significant difference was detected between LPM and control plots (Fig. 3.4). Also, a significant difference between the two manure treatments was detected only in the perennial plots in which SPM produced greater total N concentration than LPM application in the 15-30 cm depth interval (Fig 3.5).



Figure 3.4 Cropping by manure treatment interaction effect on soil total N in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means.Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test. Note: Multiple comparison test was done within each cropping system



Figure 3.5 Cropping by manure treatment interaction effect on soil total N in the 15-30 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test. Note: Multiple comparison test was done within each cropping system

3.4.4 Total Phosphorus

Manure treatment and cropping system effects were significant for soil total P concentration only in the 0-15 cm depth interval. In this layer, all manure treatment means were significantly different from each other, with total P concentrations decreasing in the order SPM > LPM > control (Fig 3.6). Averaged across manure treatments, soils under perennial grasses in this layer had 15% greater total P concentration than soils under annual cropping (Table 3.3).



Figure 3.6 Manure treatment effect on soil total P in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey -Kramer multiple comparison test.

3.4.5 Organic Carbon

Manure treatment effect was significant for soil organic C concentration in the 0-15 cm depth interval (Table 3.3). Soils amended with SPM had the greatest soil organic C concentration while LPM amended soil were not significantly different from the control (Fig 3.7). In the 15-30 cm depth interval, manure treatment had no significant effect on organic C concentration (Table 3.3). There was no significant effect of cropping system on soil organic C regardless of soil depth interval (Table 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.7 Manure treatment effect on soil organic carbon in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means .Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

3.4.6 Soil pH

Manure treatment had no significant effect on soil pH at both 0-15 cm and 15-30 cm.

There was no significant effect of cropping system on soil pH regardless of soil depth

interval (Table 3.3 and 3.4).

3.4.7 Electrical Conductivity

The cropping system by manure treatment interaction was significant for EC in the 0-15 cm depth interval (Table 3.3). While manure treatments did not differ significantly in the annual plots, SPM produced the greatest EC in the perennial plots (Fig 3.8). In the 15-30 cm depth layer, EC was significantly greater in SPM-amended plots than in the control, but there was no significant difference between SPM and the control and between SPM and LPM (Fig 3.9).

Cropping system had no significant effect on soil electrical conductivity in the 15-30 cm depth interval (Table 3.4).



Figure 3.8 Cropping system by manure treatment effect on soil in 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test. Note: Multiple comparison test was done within each cropping system



Figure 3.9 Manure treatment effect on soil electrical conductivity in the 15-30 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P >0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

3.4.8 Cation Exchange Capacity

In the 0-15 cm depth interval, the CEC of SPM amended soils was the highest with a value of 9.8 cmol_c kg⁻¹. The CEC of SPM-amended soils was significantly greater than that of LPM-amended soils but was not significantly different from that of control soils (Fig 3.10). Manure treatment had no significant effect on CEC in the 15-30 cm layer, while the cropping system effect was not significant in either soil depth (Table 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.10 Manure treatment effect on cation exchange capacity in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test.

3.4.9 Exchangeable Cations

3.4.9.1 Exchangeable Calcium

In the 0-15 cm depth interval, exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration was significantly lower in LPM-amended soils than in the control but did not differ significantly between the two manure types and between SPM-amended plots and the control (Fig 3.11). Manure treatments did not differ significantly with respect to exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration in the 15-30 cm depth interval (Table 3.3). In both soil layers, cropping system had no significant effect on exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration (Table 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.11 Manure treatment effect on exchangeable calcium in the 0-15 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test.

3.4.9.2 Exchangeable Potassium

In the 0-15 cm depth interval, exchangeable K⁺ concentration was greater in SPMamended soils than LPM-amended soils (Fig 3.12). Liquid pig manure also produced significantly greater exchangeable K⁺ concentration than the control. The lowest exchangeable K⁺ was in control soils. In the 15-30 cm depth interval, SPM-amended soils had a higher exchangeable K⁺ concentration than LPM-amended and control soils. There was no significant difference in exchangeable K⁺ concentration between soils that received LPM and the control (Table 3.3). The effect of cropping system was not significant for exchangeable K⁺ concentration in both soil layers (Table 3.3 and 3.4).



Figure 3.12 Manure treatment effect on exchangeable potassium in the (A) 0-15 cm depth (B) 15-30 cm depth. Error bars represent standard error of the means. Bars with the same letter are not significantly different (P > 0.05) according to the Tukey-Kramer multiple comparison test

3.5.9.3 Exchangeable Magnesium

There was no significant effect of manure treatment or cropping system for exchangeable magnesium in both the 0-15 cm depth and 15- 30 cm depth (Table 3.3 and 3.4).

3.6 Discussion

3.6.1 Soil Available Phosphorus

The increased soil available P in pig manure amended soils relative to the control could be due to the addition of a P rich organic amendment (pig manure) to the soil (Von Wandruszka 2006). Our results is consistent with those reported by Lourenzi et

al. (2013), Lourenzi et al. (2014a), Balota et al. (2014), Broetto et al. (2014) and Penha et al. (2015), in which pig manure (slurry or deep litter) addition to soil, increased soil available P. The observed increase in available P of pig manure amended soils in our study is consistent with the suggestion of constant replenishment of available P through the dissolution of stable inorganic P pools and organic P mineralization (Tiessen and Moir 1993; Hountin et al. 2000; Broetto et al. 2014).

The greater soil available P concentration in SPM-amended compared with LPMamended soils in our study corroborates results from other studies, which showed that soils amended with pig deep litter had greater available P concentration than pig slurry-amended soil (Guardini et al. 2012a; Couto et al. 2013; Lourenzi et al. 2014a). The greater available P concentration in SPM-amended soil could be attributed to the greater total P concentration in SPM compared to LPM (The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee 2007; Guardini et al. 2012a; Lourenzi et al. 2014a). We attributed the increase in soil available P concentration observed only in the 0- 15 cm layer to this depth interval being the region of manure application (Guardini et al. 2012a. This is also an indication of the limited downward movement of P in this soil (Wang et al. 2008).

The increase in soil available P concentration in perennial plots relative to annual plots is consistent with results from a study by Stewart et al. (2015), which showed that the decrease in available P concentration in soils under switch grass was lower (-5.38 kg P ha⁻¹) than the decrease observed in soils under no-till corn (-24.04 Kg P ha⁻¹). This suggest a greater use of available P by annual crops and increased residual P concentration in soils in perennial plots (Stewart et al. 2015). The greater soil available P concentration in perennial plots could also be due to the high root biomass of perennial crops that reduces erosion and P losses in surface soil (Broetto et al. 2014).

3.6.2 Soil Available Nitrogen

The observed effect of LPM on soil available N concentration in the 0-15 cm depth interval is consistent with results from a study by Lourenzi et al. (2013), which showed that 19 applications of pig slurry did not significantly increase soil mineral N concentration relative to unamended soil. They attributed this lack of response to the leaching of mineral N below the 60-cm depth and to losses by runoff (Lourenzi et al., 2013). Angers et al. (2010) and Mooleki et al. (2002), however, observed an increase in available N concentration in soil fertilized with LPM. The lack of response to LPM application in our study could be partly due to the rapid accumulation of inorganic N during the first few days following pig slurry application (Rochette et al. 2000b; Chantigny et al. 2001; Yanardağ et al. 2015), followed by a decrease with time as a result of crop uptake and losses from the soil through nitrate leaching (Daudén et al. 2004; Nikiema et al. 2013).

The 38-39% increase in available N concentration in SPM-amended soil could be attributed to the higher organic N content and organic C of SPM compared with LPM (The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee 2007). Also, since SPM contains straw bedding, which has a high C:N ratio, degradation is slower and takes longer. However, while the lower C:N ratio of LPM causes it to degrade faster, the nutrients contained in LPM thus become rapidly available in the periods after application (Rochette et al. 2000a; Couto et al. 2013).

The increased available N concentration in perennial plots compared to annual plots is similar to reports by Masto et al. (2008) and Liebig et al. (2012), who found that perennial plots had higher available N concentration. These results may be an artefact of the experiment. The seeding of the perennial plot to canola in 2013 necessitated the application of large amounts of manure N with no credit given to the grasses that were ploughed under. This might have caused an unusually high available N concentration in the soil in these plots in 2014.

3.6.3 Soil Total Phosphorus

The increased soil total P concentration in the 0-15 cm depth interval of pig manure amended soils is due to the addition of P-rich pig manure (Von Wandruszka 2006). The results from our study are in contrast to results obtained by Qian et al (2004) in a study comparing P distribution in swine and cattle manure amended soils. In the study, pig slurry application had no effect on soil total P concentration while cattle manure increased total P concentration relative to the control. Qian et al (2004) attributed this result to the high N:P ratio of the pig manure compared with cattle manure, and to the fact that the P added by LPM matched crop removal. Broetto et al. (2014), however, reported an increase in soil total P concentration after 20 years of pig slurry application in soils that received high rates of pig slurry. They attributed this increase to the higher amount of P added by the manure relative to P uptake by plants and also to the favourable conditions for P accumulation, such as the no- tillage management employed during their study and low soil erosion susceptibility. Results from Broetto et al. (2014) are similar to results from our study. Couto et al. (2013) also reported an increase in soil P following pig slurry and pig deep litter application over a period of 8 years. Angers et al. (2010), in their study on the retention of P in soils following long-term application of pig manure, observed an increase in soil total P concentration with the addition of pig manure.

The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee (2007) estimates that fresh solid pig manure contains about 2.8 kg Mg⁻¹ total P while liquid manure contains about 0.7 kg Mg⁻¹ of total P. The greater increase in total P in SPM-amended soil could therefore be due to SPM having a higher total P concentration than LPM (The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee 2007; Guardini et al. 2012a). Results from our study are consistent with Guardini et al. (2012b), who observed a greater increase in total P concentration in soils amended with pig deep litter (SPM) compared to pig slurry-amended soils.

The lack of a significant effect of pig manure on soil total P concentration in the 15-30 cm depth interval may due to top layer being the region of manure application.

The soil profile under perennial plots contained consistently lower residual N concentrations than that under annual cropping in soil tests conducted in the fall. As such, a greater amount of manure was added to the perennial plots during the five-year period compared to the annual plots. These differences could account for the differences in the total P in the topsoil of these two cropping systems. In addition, the high root biomass of perennial crops decreased susceptibility to erosion and runoff losses of P compared to annual crops (Broetto et al. 2014).

3.6.4 Soil Total Nitrogen

Perennial plots have been known to prevent nitrate leaching (Nikiema et al. 2013) and can accumulate soil total N (Culman et al. 2010; Blanco-Canqui et al. 2014). Solid manures, due to their higher C:N ratio relative to pig slurries, have lower N mineralization rates (Qian and Schoenau 2002). Thus, the repeated application of solid manures could lead to the accumulation of total N with time. The increase in soil total N concentration in perennial plots amended with SPM could be due to the synergistic effect of perennial cropping and SPM on total N. The increase in total N concentration in LPM-amended soils in the perennial plots compared to the control could also be due to the N-rich LPM contributing more to the soil N pool when added to soil.

The increase in total N concentration in SPM-amended soil in annual plots could be attributed to the lower rate of N mineralization of the solid manure (Qian and Schoenau 2002) compared with LPM, which has a lower C:N ratio (Rochette et al. 2000a; Couto et al. 2013). This could have led to N accumulation in SPM-amended soil over time.

The greater total N concentration in the 15-30 cm depth interval in SPM-amended soils under perennial cropping was surprising, as the solid manure was not incorporated in this plot until 2013 when the perennial plot was seeded to canola. The incorporation that was carried out in 2013 could have added some of the preserved SPM from the surface soil into the lower depth, leading to an increase in soil N concentration. In the annual plots, the lack of total N response to pig manure application was possibly due to a more rapid mineralization from manure incorporation in the annual plots and losses of N due to leaching.

3.6.5 Soil pH

Ahmed et al. (2013) reported no significant differences between soil pH in control plots and liquid pig manure-amended plots. Similar results were reported by Richards et al. (2011), and Couto et al. (2013). Lourenzi et al. (2013) also observed no response

of pH to pig slurry and pig litter soils. However, in the study, soils that received twice the recommended dose of deep litter had increased soil pH (Lourenzi et al., 2013). Various studies have reported increases in soil pH following pig manure application (Wienhold, 2005; Brunetto et al., 2012; Lourenzi et al., 2011) while a decrease in soil pH following repeated applications of pig manure was reported by others (Lipoth and Schoenau, 2007; Adeli et al., 2008). The Hibsin soil that was used in our study had a near neutral pH (6.5) and may not be amenable to pH increases following manure addition.

The cropping effect on soil pH reported in our study is consistent with reports from Gilley et al. (2013) who reported no change in soil pH in a narrow grass hedge system.

3.6.6 Soil Electrical Conductivity

Studies have shown that pig manure can increase soil EC (Plaza et al. 2002; Adeli et al. 2008) while others indicated no significant effect of pig effluent application (Turner et al. 2010). In our study, the perennial plots amended with SPM had the highest EC. While some studies have shown that pig manure has a number of dissolved salts (Adeli et al. 2008), few studies have reported the effect of perennial cropping on soil EC. Results from our study could also be due to the greater amount of SPM added to perennial plots to meet crop N requirements, which in turn increased soil EC.

The increase in EC in the 15-30 cm depth interval in solid pig manure-amended soil could be due to the presence of dissolved salts in the solid pig manure (Adeli et al. 2008). Although, this EC increase in SPM-amended soil was significant, the soil was

still classified as non-saline as the electrical conductivity of 437 μ s cm⁻¹ is less than 4000 μ s cm⁻¹ (Ashraf et al., 2008).

3.6.7 Soil Organic Carbon

The increase in soil organic C concentration with addition of SPM could be due to the large C:N ratio and high dry matter content of solid pig manure (Brunetto et al. 2012; Couto et al. 2013; Comin et al. 2013). Brunetto et al. (2012) reported similar results, with pig deep litter amended soils having a higher organic C concentration than the control soils and pig slurry-amended soils. Result from our study are consistent with those from other previous studies (Assefa et al. 2004; Comin et al. 2013; Balota et al. 2014). The lack of a significant manure effect on soil organic C in the 15-30 cm depth interval could be due to the addition of pig manure to the surface soil without deep incorporation (Comin et al. 2013). The lack of response of soil organic C concentration to LPM application in our study could be a result of the rapid decomposition of organic matter in liquid manure due the narrower C:N ratio of LPM (Rochette et al. 200a). Angers et al. (2010) similarly found no significant difference in organic C concentration between soils fertilized with LPM and unamended soils.

Results from our study on the effect of cropping system on soil organic C in the 0-15 cm soil layer is in contrast to studies by Culman et al. (2010), which showed an increase in soil organic C in soils under perennial vegetation relative to annual croplands. They attributed the increase to the ability of perennial grasses to sequester carbon, and to the high root biomass of perennial grasses compared to annual crops (Culman et al. 2010). Results from our study could be due to the short timeframe of our study. Other studies (Ernst and Siri-Prieto 2009; Tiemann and Grady 2015) have

reported similar results to our study in which organic C in soils under perennial grasses were not significantly different from the control or annual plots. Tiemann and Grandy (2015) concluded that the lack of increase in soil organic C under perennial grasses is due to the unstable soil organic C accrued and slow build-up of potentially mineralizable C.

3.6.8 Cation Exchange Capacity

The lack of a significant difference in CEC between LPM-amended soil and the control is in contrast to the study by Ndayegamiye and Cote (1989), in which liquid pig manure at igh rates increased soil CEC relative to unamended soil. Results from their study, however, showed a greater increase in soil CEC with solid cattle manure application. The slightly lower, but not significantly different CEC of LPM amended soil compared with the control is similar to the results reported by Brunetto et al. (2012). The higher CEC of SPM-amended soils than the LPM-amended soils could be due to the greater organic matter content of these SPM amended soils (Brunetto et al. 2012).

The non-significant effect observed for CEC in the 15-30 cm depth interval could be due to a lack of response of organic matter to pig manure as an increase in humic matter can increase CEC.

The lack of significant differences in soil organic C between cropping systems in this study could be the reason for the non-significant cropping effect on CEC as the addition of humic matter can increase soil CEC (Penha et al. 2015).

3.6.9 Exchangeable Cations

3.6.9.1 Exchangeable Ca

The lower exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration observed in our study is consistent with observations by Smanhotto et al. (2013). A similar result was observed 59 d after sowing soybean in pig slurry-amended soil in a study on the nutrient behaviour of pig slurry (Smanhotto et al. 2013). Results from our study are also similar to those obtained by Qian et al. (2005), who reported a significant decrease in exchangeable Ca concentration in liquid pig manure-amended soils after 5 years of repeated manure application. The lack of significant difference in exchangeable Ca^{2+} between SPM amended soils and control soils in our study may be due to the low concentration of Ca^{2+} in pig manure, the reaction of Ca^{2+} with phosphates to form insoluble mineral compounds or the higher adsorption of Ca to organic matter (Lourenzi et al. 2011). Other studies have reported increases in exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration with pig manure addition (Sharpley et al. 2004; Franke et al. 2008; Lourenzi et al. 2011; Lourenzi et al. 2013).

It was surprising that the exchangeable Ca concentration in manure treated soils was smaller than in the control in spite of the possibility of Ca addition by the manure. It is possible that other cations in the manure, such as K^+ , NH_4^+ and Na^+ , replaced the native soil Ca^{2+} which then formed a precipitate with manure and soil P. Ige et al. (2006) examined the relationship between soil test P and soil properties and found only the exchangeable K^+ to be related to soil test P. They postulated that this relationship may be an indication of a similar source of K^+ and P, and the possibility of K^+ replacing exchangeable Ca^{2+} , which then precipitated with P to increase the soil residual P. A similar process may be in operation in our manure-amended soil as the reduced exchangeable Ca was accompanied by an increase in exchangeable K⁺.

3.6.9.2 Exchangeable K

Results from our study are consistent with those of Adeli et al. (2008), who reported an increase in exchangeable K⁺ concentration with the addition of liquid pig manure to soil. Bernal et al. (1993) also reported an increase in exchangeable K⁺ concentration of two calcareous soils with the addition of pig slurry. McAndrews et al. (2006) observed that soils amended with fresh solid pig manure had greater exchangeable K⁺ than control soils. Franke et al. (2008) reported an increase in exchangeable K⁺ following application of solid beef cattle manure. The increase in exchangeable K⁺ and a decrease in exchangeable Ca^{2+} following manure addition is an indication that there were exchange reactions between K⁺ in the manure and Ca^{2+} on the soil exchange complex (Akinremi and Cho 1993). Qian et al. (2005) also observed this trend of an increase in exchangeable K⁺ and a concomitant decrease in Ca^{2+} concentration after 5 years of repeated pig manure application. Hence, the increase in exchangeable K⁺ concentration observed in SPM- and LPM-amended soils in our study could be due to exchange reactions between exchangeable K⁺ and Ca^{2+} (Akinremi and Cho 1993).

The lack of significant differences between LPM-amended soil and the control in the 15-30 cm depth interval could be due to the retardation of K^+ movement by its exchange reactions with Ca²⁺ within the surface 0-15 cm layer. Cho (1985) demonstrated that exchange reactions between cations in soil could reduce their movement in soils.

3.6.9.2 Exchangeable Mg

Results from our study is consistent with that of Couto et al. (2013), who reported no significant effect of pig slurry and pig deep litter on the exchangeable Mg. In their study, only soils amended with twice the recommended dose of pig litter had increased exchangeable Mg. Other studies have reported increases in exchangeable Mg with pig manure addition (Franke et al., 2008; Lourenzi et al., 2011; Lourenzi et al., 2013) after years of study. The short-term nature of our study (5 years) could be the reason for lack response of exchangeable Mg to pig manure addition in both soil depth interval (0-15 cm, 15-30 cm).

The non-significant cropping effect for exchangeable Mg was probably due to the lack of a significant effect of cropping system on CEC and organic carbon.

3.7 Conclusion

Land application of pig manure influenced the chemical properties of an Orthic Black Chernozem. Liquid pig manure addition increased available P, total P and exchangeable K⁺ concentrations and reduced exchangeable Ca²⁺ concentration in the 0-15 cm soil layer regardless of cropping system. Solid pig manure increased soil available N and exchangeable K⁺ in both soil layers and, total P, available P, organic C concentrations in the 0-15 cm depth interval.

The significantly lower exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration in LPM-amended soil suggests reduced P availability in this soil due to the increased potential of

precipitation reactions of P with the displaced Ca^{2+} . Further studies are recommended to monitor the effect of reduced exchangeable Ca^{2+} concentration on soil structure over time.

In the 15-30 cm soil layer, SPM-amended soil had significantly greater exchangeable K^+ and available N concentrations than the control and LPM-amended soils. Soils under perennial cropping had significantly greater available P and total P concentrations when compared with annual plots.

Although LPM improved some soil chemical properties following pig manure application, greater improvement in soil chemical properties was recorded in SPMamended soils. Our results suggest that SPM has a potential to improve soil chemical properties of prairie soils.

3.8 References

- Adeli, A., Bolster, C.H., Rowe, D.E., McLaughlin, M.R. and Brink, G.E. 2008. Effect of long-term swine effluent application on selected soil properties: Soil Sci. 173: 223– 235.
- Akinremi, O.O., and Cho, C.M. 1991a. Phosphate and accompanying cation transport in a calcareous cation-exchange resin system. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 55: 959–964.
- Akinremi, O.O., and Cho, C.M. 1991b. Phosphate transport in calcium-saturated systems: ii. experimental results in a model system. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 55: 1282– 1287.
- Akinremi, O.O., and Cho, C.M. 1993. Phosphorus diffusion retardation in a calcareous system by coapplication of potassium chloride. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57: 845–850.

- Akinremi, O.O., Armisen, N., Kashem, M.A. and Janzen, H.H. 2003. Evaluation of analytical methods for total phosphorus in organic amendments. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 34: 2981–2991.
- Akinremi, O.O., Ige, D.V. and Bammeke, M. 2014. Downward movement of nitrate and phosphorus from liquid and solid hog manure under annual and perennial cropping systems. Manitoba Rural Adaptation Council, Manitoba.
- Angers, D. A., Rochette, P., Chantigny, M. H. and Lapierre, H. 2007. Use of 13C abundance to study short-term pig slurry decomposition in the field. Soil Biol. Biochem. 39: 1234–1237. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio.2006.12.028
- Angers, D.A., Chantigny, M.H., MacDonald, J.D., Rochette, P. and Côté, D. 2010. Differential retention of carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus in grassland soil profiles with long-term manure application. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 86: 225–229.
- Ashraf, M., Öztürk, M.A. and Athar, H.R. 2008. Salinity and Water Stress: Improving Crop Efficiency. Springer.pp 100.
- Assefa, B.A., Schoenau, J.J. and Grevers, M.C.J. 2004. Effects of four annual applications of manure on Black Chernozemic soils. Can. Biosyst. Eng.46: 6–39.
- Balota, E. L., Machineski, O., Hamid, K. I. A, Yada, I. F. U., Barbosa, G. M. C., Nakatani, A. S., and Coyne, M. S. 2014. Soil microbial properties after long-term swine slurry application to conventional and no-tillage systems in Brazil. Sci. Total Environ.. 490: 397–404. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2014.05.019
- Bernal, M.P., Roig, A. and Garcia, D. 1993. Nutrient balances in calcareous soils after application of different rates of pig slurry. Soil Use Manage 9: 9–14.
- Blanco-Canqui, H., Gilley, J.E., Eisenhauer, D.E., Jasa, P.J. and Boldt, A. 2014. Soil carbon accumulation under switch grass barriers. Agron. J. 106: 2185.
- Broetto, T., Tornquist, C., Bayer, C., Campos, B., Merten, C. and Wottrich, B. 2014. Soils and surface waters as affected by long-term swine slurry application in oxisols of southern Brazil. Pedosphere 24: 585–594.

- Brunetto, G., Comin, J.J., Schmitt, D.E., Guardini, R., Mezzari, C.P., Oliveira, B.S., De Moraes, M.P., Gatiboni, L.C., Lovato, P.E. and Ceretta, C.A. 2012. Changes in soil acidity and organic carbon in a sandy typic hapludalf after medium-term pigslurry and deep-litter application. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 36: 1620– 1628.
- Carter, M.R., and Campbell, A.J. 2006. Influence of tillage and liquid swine manure on productivity of a soybean-barley rotation and some properties of a fine sandy loam in Prince Edward Island. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86: 741–748.
- Carter, M.R. and Gregorich, E.G. 2008. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. 2nd Edition, Canadian Society of Soil Science, Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, Boca Raton.
- Chantigny, M.H., Rochette, P. and Angers, D.A. 2001. Short-term C and N dynamics in a soil amended with pig slurry and barley straw: a field experiment. Can. J. Soil Sci. 81: 131–137.
- Cho, C.M. 1985. Ionic transport in soil with ion-exchange reaction. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.49:1379-1386
- Choudhary, M., Bailey, L.D. and Grant, C.A. 1996. Review of the use of swine manure in crop production: effects on yield and composition and on soil and water quality. Waste Manage. Res. 14: 581–595.
- Comin, J.J., Loss, A., da Veiga M., Guardini, R., Schmitt, D.E., Victoria de Oliveira,
 P.A., Filho, P.B., Couto, R. da R., Benedet, L., Júnior, V.M. and Brunetto, G.
 2013. Physical properties and organic carbon content of a Typic Hapludult soil fertilised with pig slurry and pig litter in a no-tillage system. Soil Res. 51: 459.
- Couto, R. da R., Comin, J.J., Soares, C.R.F.S., Belli Filho, P., Benedet, L., de Moraes, M.P., Brunetto, G. and Beber, C.L. 2013. Microbiological and chemical attributes of a Hapludalf soil with swine manure fertilization. Pesquisa Agropecuária Brasileira 48: 774–782.

- Cransberg, L., and McFarlane, D.J. 1994. Can perennial pastures provide the basis for a sustainable farming system in southern Australia? New Zeal. J. Agric. Res. 37: 287-294
- Culman, S.W., DuPont, S.T., Glover, J.D., Buckley, D.H., Fick, G.W., Ferris, H. and T.E. Crews. 2010. Long-term impacts of high-input annual cropping and unfertilized perennial grass production on soil properties and belowground food webs in Kansas, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 137: 13–24
- Daudén, A., Quílez, D. and Vera, M.V. 2004. Pig slurry application and irrigation effects on nitrate leaching in Mediterranean soil lysimeters. J. Environ. Qual. 33: 2290–2295.
- Ernst, O., and Siri-Prieto, G. 2009. Impact of perennial pasture and tillage systems on carbon input and soil quality indicators. Soil Tillage Res.105: 260–268.
- Franke, A.C., Schulz, S., Oyewole, B.D., Diels, J., and Tobe, O.K. 2008. The role of cattle manure in enhancing on-farm productivity, macro- and micro-nutrient uptake, and profitability of maize in the guinea savanna. Exp. Agr. 44.
- Franzluebbers, A.J., Sawchik, J. and Taboada, M.A. 2014. Agronomic and environmental impacts of pasture–crop rotations in temperate North and South America. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 190: 18–26.
- Gao, G., and Chang, C. 1996. Changes in CEC and particle size distribution of soils associated with long-term annual applications of cattle feedlot manure. Soil Sci. 161: 115–120
- Gilley, J.E., Bartelt-Hunt, S., Lamb, S.J., Li, X., Marx, D.B., Snow, D.D., Parker, D.B. and Woodbury, B.L. 2013. Narrow grass hedge effects on nutrient transport following swine slurry application. 2013 ASABE Annual International Meeting Paper.
- Guardini, R., Comin, J.J., Schmitt, D.E., Tiecher, T., Bender, M.A., dos Santos, D.R.,
 Mezzari, C.P., Oliveira, B.S., Gatiboni, L.C. and Brunetto, G. 2012a.
 Accumulation of phosphorus fractions in typic Hapludalf soil after long-term

application of pig slurry and deep pig litter in a no-tillage system. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. **93**: 215–225.

- Guardini, R., Comin, J.J., dos Santos, D.R., Gatiboni, L.C., Tiecher, T., Schmitt, D.,
 Bender, M.A., Belli Filho, P., de Oliveira, P.A.V., and Brunetto, G. 2012b.
 Phosphorus accumulation and pollution potential in a Hapludult fertilized with pig manure. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 36: 1333–1342.
- Hountin, J.A., Couillard, D. and Karam, A. 1997. Soil carbon, nitrogen and phosphorus contents in maize plots after 14 years of pig slurry applications. J. Agric. Sci. 129: 187–191.
- Hountin, J.A., Karam, A., Couillard, D., and Cescas, M.P. 2000. Use of a fractionation procedure to assess the potential for P movement in a soil profile after 14 years of liquid pig manure fertilization. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 78: 77–84.
- Janzen, H. H. 1993. Soluble salts: Fixed ratio extract. In M. R. Carter, eds. Soil sampling and methods of analysis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL, USA. pp 161-166
- Jobbágy, E.G., and Jackson, R.B. 2001. The distribution of soil nutrients with depth: global patterns and the imprint of plants. Biogeochemistry 53: 51–77.
- Khakbazan, M., Hamilton, C., Elliott, J. and Yarotski, J. 2013. Economic analysis of agricultural nutrient management practices in the South Tobacco Creek Watershed in Manitoba, Canada. Soil Water Conserv. 68: 257–269.
- Larson, B. G. 1991. Saskatchewan Pork Industry Manure Management Recommendations Saskatoon, SK, Canada: Saskatchewan Pork Producers' Marketing Board
- Liebig, M.A., Tanaka, D.L., Kronberg, S.L., Scholljegerdes, E.J. and Karn, J.F. 2012. Integrated crops and livestock in central North Dakota, USA: Agroecosystem management to buffer soil change. Renewable Agric. Food Syst. 27: 115–124.

- Limon-Ortega, A., Govaerts, B. and Sayre, K.D. 2009. Crop rotation, wheat straw management, and chicken manure effects on soil quality. Agron. J. 101: 600
- Lipoth, S.L., and Schoenau, J.J. 2007. Copper, zinc, and cadmium accumulation in two prairie soils and crops as influenced by repeated applications of manure. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci.170: 378–386.
- Lourenzi, C.R., Ceretta, C.A., da Silva, L.S., Trentin, G., Girotto, E., Lorensini, F., Tiecher, T.L. and Brunetto, G. 2011. Soil chemical properties related to acidity under successive pig slurry application. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 35: 1827–1836.
- Lourenzi, C.R., Ceretta, C.A., da Silva, L.S., Trentin, G., Girotto, E., Lorensini, F., Tiecher, T.L.,De Conti, L., Trentin, G. and G. Brunetto. 2013. Nutrients in soil layers under no-tillage after successive pig slurry applications. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 37: 157–167
- Lourenzi, C.R., Ceretta, C.A., Cerini, J.B., Ferreira, P.A.A., Lorensini, F., Girotto, E., Tiecher, T.L., Schapanski, D.E. and Brunetto, G. 2014a. Available content, surface runoff and leaching of phosphorus forms in a typic hapludalf treated with organic and mineral nutrient sources. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 38: 544– 556.
- Lourenzi, C.R., Ceretta, C.A., Cerini, J.B., Ferreira, P.A.A., Lorensini, F., Girotto, E., Tiecher, T.L., Schapanski, D.E. and Brunetto, G. 2014b. Pig slurry and nutrient accumulation and dry matter and grain yield in various crops. Revista Brasileira de Ciência do Solo 38: 949–958.
- Magdoff, F. 1993. Building soils for better crops: Organic matter management. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Masto, R.E., Chhonkar, P.K., Purakayastha, T.J., Patra, A.K. and Singh, D. 2008. Soil quality indices for evaluation of long-term land use and soil management practices in semi-arid sub-tropical India. Land Degrad. Dev.19: 516–529.

- Maynard D.G., Kalra, Y.P. and Crumbaugh, J.A. 2006. Nitrate and Exchangeable Ammonium Nitrogen *In* Soil Sampling and Methods of soil analysis. M. R. Carter and E.G. Gregorich(Ed.) 2nd ed. Taylor and Francis group.LLC, pp 97-106
- McAndrews, G.M., Liebman, M., Cambardella, C.A. and Richard, T.L. 2006. Residual effects of composted and fresh solid swine (1.) manure on soybean [(1.) merr.] growth and yield. Agron. J. 98: 873.
- McKeague, J.A., 1981. Manual on Soil Sampling and methods of analysis, Second Ed. Canadian Society of Soil Science, Ottawa.
- Miller J.J, Sweetland, N.J. and Chang, C. 2002. Soil physical properties of a chernozemic clay loam after 24 years of beef cattle manure application. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 82:287-296
- Mooleki, S.P., Schoenau, J.J., Hultgreen, G., Wen, G. and Charles, J.L. 2002. Effect of rate, frequency and method of liquid swine manure application on soil nitrogen availability, crop performance and N use efficiency in east-central Saskatchewan Can. J. Soil. Sci. 82: 457–467.
- Mooleki, S.P., Schoenau, J.J., Charles, J.L. and Wen, G. 2004. Effect of rate, frequency and incorporation of feedlot cattle manure on soil nitrogen availability, crop performance and nitrogen use efficiency in east-central Saskatchewan. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 84: 199–210.
- Murphy, J. and Riley, J.P. 1962. A Modified Single Solution Method For The Determination Of Phosphatein Naturalwaters. Analytica Chimica Acta 27: 31–36.
- Ndayegamiye, A., and Cote, D. 1989. Effect of long-term pig slurry and solid cattle manure application on soil chemical and biological properties. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 69: 39–47.
- Nikiema, P., Buckley, K.E., Enns, J.M., Qiang, H. and Akinremi, O.O. 2013. Effects of liquid hog manure on soil available nitrogen status, nitrogen leaching losses and wheat yield on a sandy loam soil of western Canada. Can. J. Soil. Sci. 93: 573 584.

- Novek, J. 2003. Intensive Hog Farming in Manitoba: Transnational Treadmills and Local Conflicts*.EBSCO publishing, CSRA/RCSA 40.1 pp 4-26
- **Olson, B.M. and Papworth, L.W. 2006**. Soil chemical changes following manure application on irrigated alfalfa and rainfed timothy in southern Alberta. Can. J. Soil. Sci. **86**: 119–132.
- Olsen, S.R. Cole, C.V., Watanabe, F.S., and Dean, L.A. 1954. Estimation of available phosphorus in soils by extraction with sodium bicarbonate. U.S. Department of Agriculture Cir. 939.
- Olsen, S.R. and Sommers, L.E. 1982. Phosphorus. Pages 403-430 in A.L. Page, Ed. Methods of soil analysis. Part 2. 2nd ed. American Society of A|gronomy, Madison, WI
- Paschold, J.S., Wienhold, B.J., Ferguson, R.B. and McCallister, D.L. 2008. Soil nitrogen and phosphorus availability for field-applied slurry from swine fed traditional and low-phytate corn. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 72: 1096.
- Penha, H.G.V., Menezes, J.F.S., Silva, C.A., Lopes, G., de Andrade Carvalho, C., Ramos, S.J. and Guilherme, L.R.G. 2015. Nutrient accumulation and availability and crop yields following long-term application of pig slurry in a Brazilian Cerrado soil. Nutr. Cycling Agroecosyst. 101: 259–269.
- Plaza, C., Senesi, N., García-Gil, J.C., Brunetti, G., D'Orazio, V. and Polo, A. 2002. Effects of pig slurry application on soils and soil humic acids. J. Agr. Food Chem. 50: 4867–4874.
- Pugesgaard, S., Schelde, K., Larsen, S.U., Laerke, P.E. and Jørgensen, U. 2014. Comparing annual and perennial crops for bioenergy production - influence on nitrate leaching and energy balance. GCB Bioenergy: 1–14.
- Qian, P., Schoenau, J.J., Wu, T. and Mooleki, P. 2004. Phosphorus amounts and distribution in a Saskatchewan soil after five years of swine and cattle manure application. Can. J Soil Sci. 84: 275–281.

- Qian, P., Schoenau, J.J., King, T. and Japp, M. 2005. Effect of repeated manure application on potassium, calcium and magnesium in soil and cereal crops in Saskatchewan. Can. J Soil Sci. 85: 397–403.
- Rachman, A., Anderson, S.H., Gantzer, C.J. and Thompson, A.L. 2003. Influence of long-term cropping systems on soil physical properties related to soil erodibility. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 67: 637–644.
- **Randall, G.W., and Mulla, D.J. 2001**. Nitrate nitrogen in surface waters as influenced by climatic conditions and agricultural practices. J. Environ. Qual. **30**: 337–344.
- Rhoades, J. D. 1996. Salinity: Electrical conductivity and total dissolved solids. In: Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3—Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI, USA. p. 417-435.
- Richards, J.R., Zhang, H., Schroder, J.L., Hattey, J.A., Raun, W.R. and Payton, M.E.
 2011. Micronutrient availability as affected by the long-term application of phosphorus fertilizer and organic amendments. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 75: 927.
- Rochette, P., Angers, D.A. and Cote, D. 2000a. Soil Carbon and Nitrogen Dynamics Following Application of Pig Slurry for the 19th Consecutive Year I. Carbon Dioxide Fluxes and Microbial Biomass Carbon. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 64: 1389–1395.
- Rochette, P., van Bochove, E., Prévost, D., Angers, D.A., Cote, D. and N. Bertrand 2000b. Soil carbon and nitrogen dynamics following application of pig slurry for the 19th consecutive year II. Nitrous oxide fluxes and mineral nitrogen. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 64: 1396–1403.
- Royer, I., Simard, R.R., Barnett, G.M., Cluis, D. and Angers, D.A. 2003. Long-term effects of liquid hog manure on the phosphorus status of a silt loam cropped to corn. Can. J. Soil Sci. 83: 589–600.
- SAS Institute Inc. 2014. SAS Online Doc 9.4, Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc.

- Schoenau, J.J., and Davis, J.G. 2006. Optimizing soil and plant responses to land-applied manure nutrients in the Great Plains of North America. Can. J. Soil Sci. 86: 587–595.
- Sharpley, A.N., R.W. McDowell, and P.J. Kleinman. 2004. Amounts, forms, and solubility of phosphorus in soils receiving manure. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 68: 2048– 2057.
- Smanhotto, A., Sampaio, S.C., Bosco, T.C.D., Prior, M. and Soncela, R. 2013. Nutrients behavior from the association pig slurry and chemical fertilizers on soybean crop. Braz. Arch. Biol. Techn. 56: 723–733.
- Smith, K.A., Jackson, D.R. and Pepper, T.J. 2001 . Nutrient losses by surface run-off following the application of organic manuresto arable land. 1. Nitrogen. Environ. Pollut., 112:41-51
- Soil Science Society of America. 2001. Glossary of Soil Science Terms. Soil Science Society of America, Madison, WI.
- Sri Ranjan, R., Manokararajah, K. and Wiebe, C. 2005. Assessing the hydraulic conductivity beneath clay-lined earthen manure storages. Can. Biosyst. Eng. / Le Genie Des Biosystems Au Canada, 47, 1–7.
- Statistics Canada, 2014. Hog Inventories by Province (Quarterly). http://www.statcan.gc.ca/tables-tableaux/sum-som/l01/cst01/prim51h-eng.htm (Accessed 14.11.14).
- Stewart, C.E., Follett, R.F., Pruessner, E.G., Varvel, G.E., Vogel, K.P. and Mitchell,
 R.B. 2015. Nitrogen and harvest effects on soil properties under rainfed switchgrass and no-till corn over 9 years: implications for soil quality. GCB Bioenergy 7: 288–301
- **The Agricultural Guidelines Development Committee. 2007.** Farm Practices Guidelines for Pig Producers in Manitoba..
- Available at http://www.gov.mb.ca/agriculture/livestock/production/pork/pubs/farmpractices-guidelines_complete.pdf (verified 15 July 2015).

- Tiemann, L.K., and Grandy, A.S. 2015. Mechanisms of soil carbon accrual and storage in bioenergy cropping systems. GCB Bioenergy 7: 161–174.
- **Tiessen, H. and Moir, J. O. 1993**. Characterization of available p by sequential extraction. Soil Sampling and Methods of Analysis. Lewis Publishers, Boca Raton, FL, USA.
- Tomer, M.D., and Liebman, M. 2014. Nutrients in soil water under three rotational cropping systems, Iowa, USA. Agric. Ecosyst. Environ. 186: 105–114.
- Turner, J.C., Hattey, J.A., Warren, J.G. and Penn, C.J. 2010. Electrical conductivity and sodium adsorption ratio changes following annual applications of animal manure amendments. Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal. 41: 1043–1060.
- Von Wandruszka, R. 2006. Phosphorus retention in calcareous soils and the effect of organic matter on its mobility. Geochem. Trans. 7
- Walkley, A. and Black, I. A. 1934. An Examination of Degtjareff Method for Determining Soil Organic Matter and a Proposed Modification of the Chromic Acid Titration Method. Soil Sci. 37:29-37.
- Wienhold, B.J., and Tanaka, D.L. 2001. Soil property changes during conversion from perennial vegetation to annual cropping. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J 65: 1795–1803.
- Woli, K.P., Rakshit, S., Lundvall, J.P., Sawyer, J.E. and Barker, D.W. 2013. Liquid swine manure application to soybean and residual-year nitrogen supply to corn. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 77: 1684.
- Yanardağ, İ.H., Zornoza, R., Cano, A.F., Yanardağ, A.B. and Mermut, A.R. 2015. Evaluation of carbon and nitrogen dynamics in different soil types amended with pig slurry, pig manure and its biochar by chemical and thermogravimetric analysis. Biol. Fertil. Soils 51: 183–196
4. GENERAL SYNTHESIS

The high rate of pig production in Manitoba invariably leads to large tonnes of manure generated annually (Sri Ranjan et al., 2005). Land application of this manure is the most common form of manure use (Bailey and Buckley, 1998). Pig manure is rich in all essential plant nutrients and can improve soil physical and chemical properties. Due to the ease of handling, liquid pig manure handling system is more common in Canada (Beaulieu, 2004). However, in recent years, a few producers in Manitoba have experimented with the solid manure handling system. The choice of cropping system employed by a farmer could affect soil quality (Limon-Ortega et al., 2009), as the ability of perennial plants to sequester organic carbon and improve soil properties through increases in soil organic carbon, is an advantage over annual crops.

A comparison of the effect of liquid and solid pig manures on the physical and chemical properties of soil cropped to annual and perennial grasses has not been undertaken on prairie soils. A knowledge of the impact that a shift from LPM to SPM management system will have on soils that receive these manures will be beneficial in future manure management practices. This study was conducted in order to determine the influence of solid and liquid pig manure and cropping system on selected soil physical and chemical properties. Thus, following five years of annual application of liquid and solid pig manure to an Orthic Black Chernozem, soil sampling was done to measure saturated hydraulic conductivity, bulk density, aggregate stability, water retention (0.2 bar and 15 bar), available water and some chemical properties such as available N and P, total N and P, pH and electrical conductivity, cation exchange capacity, exchangeable cations and organic carbon. Soil samples for chemical

properties were taken at the 0-15 cm depth and 15-30 cm depth while samples for physical properties were taken at the 0-10 cm depth and 10-20 cm depth. The reason for the difference in sampling depth for the two category of properties measured, was due to the fact that the impact of organic amendment or cropping on physical properties are time dependent and also observed relatively close to the soil surface.

The application of solid pig manure (SPM) to an Orthic Black Chernozem resulted in greater soil organic carbon content, smaller bulk density, greater saturated hydraulic conductivity, available and total phosphorus, available nitrogen, cation exchange capacity and exchangeable potassium at the first soil depth compared to liquid pig manure amended soils. We found that the effect of manure on water retention properties varied with the cropping system which suggests that the form of cropping system used on a farm could affect water retention properties.

Solid pig manure amended soils were observed to have greater available soil nutrients over time (notably phosphorus), which suggests constant replenishment of inorganic nutrients, by the mineralization of organic nutrients to their inorganic form over time. Our results thereby suggest that the continuous application of solid pig manure could lead to over application of phosphorus, as more phosphorus is added to the soil when applying manure based on nitrogen requirement of crops (especially on perennial plots). The significantly greater electrical conductivity at the 15-30 cm depth also suggests the potential for an increase in salinity of these soils over time.

Although the liquid pig manure amended soils had lower bulk density, increased aggregate stability, available phosphorus, total phosphorus, exchangeable potassium, these increases were observed only at the top 15 cm and the effect of LPM was not as great as we expected on soil physical and chemical properties. The LPM did not also

100

increase cation exchange capacity and organic carbon. These properties (organic carbon and cation exchange capacity) have a great influence on soil physical and chemical properties and could be the reason why LPM did not significantly affect some soil properties and its effect was not as we expected.

The increase in aggregate stability of soil was due to increase in the organic carbon of SPM amended soils. Since soil bulk density and aggregate stability are dependent on soil organic carbon, the greater increase in aggregate stability of SPM amended soils is due to the increase in organic carbon.

We found that application of pig manure reduced the exchangeable calcium in pig manure amended soils, with the significant decrease being in liquid pig manure amended soils. This suggest decreased P availability in liquid pig manure amended soils as a result of the increased potential of precipitation reactions of P with the displaced Ca^{2+} , as was observed in the study. Exchangeable Ca^{2+} also influences the structural stability of a soil (Bennett et al., 2014) as it increases aggregation. However, since increases in aggregate stability of pig manure amended soils were observed despite decrease in exchangeable Ca^{2+} , our study suggests that the increase in aggregate stability is more associated with increases in soil organic carbon than exchangeable Ca^{2+} .

Our results also suggest that perennial crops, through their extensive root system are able to decrease soil bulk density and increase saturated hydraulic conductivity. The soils on perennial plots also had greater available N and P because of a greater quantity of manure added to this plots to meet the N requirement of the grasses. This suggests that N-based manure application on perennial plots may also lead to over application of P over time. The variation in manure incorporation for the different cropping could have had an effect on some of the properties and could be the reason for manure by cropping system interaction observed for some properties such as available water, water retention properties and total nitrogen. The conversion of perennial plots to annual plots in 2013 could also have resulted in this interaction as the conversion might have resulted in some soil carbon been lost due to the conversion to annual plots (Fraser and Amiro, 2013).

4.1 Conclusions and recommendations

This study provides some information on the effect of SPM on soil physical and chemical properties and suggests that SPM is a better organic amendment when compared to LPM in improving surface soil physical and chemical properties of prairie soils. We recommend that care should be taken in the application of solid pig manure to soils annually as it could lead to the over application of P and increase in soil salinity over time. Also, this study suggests the use of perennial cropping system to increase soil available and total phosphorus, soil available nitrogen, increase saturated hydraulic conductivity and reduce bulk density. With time, an increase in aggregate stability and some other soil physical and chemical properties is also speculated. Since the application of SPM on perennial grasses could lead to over application, we recommend careful planning for manure application over time or supplementing the nitrogen requirement of the plant through inorganic fertilizers. Further studies should also be done to observe the effect of LPM and perennial cropping system on soil physical and chemical properties over time. Also, monitoring the effect of LPM and SPM on exchangeable Ca is also recommended.

4.2 References

Bailey, L., and Buckley, K. 1998. Land application of hog manure: Agronomic and environmental considerations, the Canadian perspective.

Beaulieu, M. 2004. Manure management in Canada. Farm Environ. Manag. Canada:
52Available at http://publications.gc.ca/Collection/Statcan/21-021-M/21-021MIE2004001.pdf (verified 13 January 2015).

- Bennett, J.M., Greene, R.S.B., Murphy, B.W., Hocking, P. and Tongway, D.
 2014. Influence of lime and gypsum on long-term rehabilitation of a Red Sodosol, in a semi-arid environment of New South Wales. Soil Res. 52: 120.
- Fraser, T.J., and Amiro, B.D. 2013. Initial carbon dynamics of perennial grassland conversion for annual cropping in Manitoba. Can. J. Soil Sci. 93: 379–391.
- Limon-Ortega, A., Govaerts, B. and Sayre, B. 2009. Crop Rotation, Wheat Straw Management, and Chicken Manure effects on Soil Quality. Agronomy Journal 101: 600.
- Sri Ranjan, R., Manokararajah, K. and Wiebe, C. 2005. Assessing the hydraulic conductivity beneath clay-lined earthen manure storages. Can. Biosyst. Eng. / Le Genie des Biosyst. au Canada 47: 1–7.